

LUND UNIVERSITY

Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution

The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation

Ramm, Ingrid

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Ramm, I. (2025). Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution: The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation (1 ed.). [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Food and Pharma]. Department of Process and Life Science Engineering, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation

INGRID RAMM DEPARTMENT OF PROCESS AND LIFE SCIENCE ENGINEERING | LUND UNIVERSITY



Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution

Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution

The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation

Ingrid Ramm



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Engineering at Lund University to be publicly defended on 14th of March at 09.00 in hall KC:C, Department of Process and Life Science Engineering, Division of Food and Pharma, Naturvetarvägen 22 Lund

Faculty opponent Dr Robin Curtis, Senior Lecturer, Manchester Institute of Biotechnology, The University of Manchester **Organization:** LUND UNIVERSITY, Division of Food and Pharma

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Author: Ingrid Ramm

Date of issue: 2025-03-14

Sponsoring organization: Vinnova

Title and subtitle: Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution: The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation

Abstract: Therapeutic proteins replicate the functions of naturally occurring proteins in the body, offering treatments for various diseases, including cancer. However, their efficacy, safety, and function can be compromised by chemical and physical degradation, such as deamidation and aggregation, which can occur during production, transportation, storage, or after administration. Therefore, stabilizing formulations are essential to maintain their native structure and prevent degradation. This thesis investigates how excipients can enhance the stability of therapeutic proteins in liquid formulations, with a focus on chemical stability. It also aims to develop an in vitro methodology for predicting the stability and behavior of therapeutic proteins in vivo.

The study examines the effect of six excipients; glycerol, fructose, sucrose, melezitose, polysorbate 80, and n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside, on the chemical stability of the therapeutic affibody GA-Z. An accelerated stability study is used to assess the impact of these excipients. The results show that glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose enhance the chemical stability of GA-Z by reducing deamidation, isomerization, and hydrolysis. These excipients increase the chemical stability by stabilizing the folded state of the z-domain and inducing a small structural change, which lowers the conformational flexibility of GA-Z, while n Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside induces significant changes in both stability and structure, possibly through micelle-protein complex formation. Additionally, a novel in vitro methodology combining Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry was developed, capable of predicting in vivo stability, analyzing serum albumin binding, detecting changes in protein size, and identifying aggregates.

These findings provide valuable insights into the stabilization of therapeutic proteins in solution and present a useful method for predicting their stability and behavior in vivo. The results provided by this study will aid in the development of more effective protein formulations by enhancing stability, minimizing degradation, and advancing the development of safer and more efficient protein drugs.

Keywords: Therapeutic protein, protein structure, polyol, glycerol, sucrose, surfactant, n-Dodecyl-β-D-maltoside, polysorbate 80, deamidation, isomerization, stability, liquid formulation

Language: English

Number of pages: 73

ISBN(print): 978-91-8104-384-6

ISBN(e-version): 978-91-8104-385-3

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-01-27

Stability of therapeutic proteins in solution

The impact of excipients on chemical and physical degradation

Ingrid Ramm



Coverphoto by Sonia Ramm and Inez Jönsson Copyright pp 1-17 Ingrid Ramm

Paper 1 © Pharmaceutics Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry

Faculty of Engineering Department of Process and Life Science Engineering

ISBN(print): 978-91-8104-384-6 ISBN(e-version): 978-91-8104-385-3

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



"Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is the time to understand more, so that we may fear less"

- Marie Curie

Table of Contents

Abstract11
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning13
Popular scientific summary15
List of papers17
Contributions to papers
Abbreviations
Introduction
Aim
The affibody GA-Z23
Chemical degradation – Deamidation and isomerization24
Physical degradation - Denaturation and aggregation
Using excipients in liquid formulations of therapeutic proteins
The stability of therapeutic proteins in vivo
The stability of GA-Z and its correlation to protein structure
The degraded residues of GA-Z32
The thermal stability of GA-Z34
The effects of polyols on the stability and structure of GA-Z and its correlation to structural changes
Glycerol-induced changes of the exchange rate between the L-succinimide and the D-succinimide rings
Polyols-induced changes in the solvent properties
How variations in the dielectric constant affect isomerization in unstructured regions of GA-Z
The impact of polyols on the thermal stability of GA-Z
Polyol-induced structural changes of GA-Z40 Elongation of GA-Z40

Compaction of the domains of GA-Z	
Stabilizing the folded state of GA-Z42 Structural changes of the albumin-binding domain	
Preferential exclusion of polyols and structural changes of GA-Z	
The effects of polyols on the chemical stability of GA-Z	7
Polyol-induced stabilization of the albumin-binding domain	e 8
The effect of solvent properties on the chemical stability of GA-Z49 The effect of polyols on the chemical stability of the linker	9
The effect of non-ionic surfactants on the stability of GA-Z and its correlation to structural changes	
The effect of polysorbate 80 on the thermal stability and structure of GA-Z	
The effect of DDM on the thermal stability of GA-Z	
DDM-induced structural changes of GA-Z	2
NMR spectroscopy	
The formation of a protein-micelle complex	
	J
A developed <i>in vitro</i> method used to investigate the stability and behavior of therapeutic proteins in plasma	7
The binding of GA-Z to human serum albumin in plasma	
The detection of aggregated trastuzumab in plasma	
Conclusions	
Future studies	
Acknowledgments	
References	

Abstract

Therapeutic proteins replicate the functions of naturally occurring proteins in the body, offering treatments for various diseases, including cancer. However, their efficacy, safety, and function can be compromised by chemical and physical degradation, such as deamidation and aggregation, which can occur during production, transportation, storage, or after administration. Therefore, stabilizing formulations are essential to maintain their native structure and prevent degradation. This thesis investigates how excipients can enhance the stability of therapeutic proteins in liquid formulations, with a focus on chemical stability. It also aims to develop an *in vitro* methodology for predicting the stability and behavior of therapeutic proteins in vivo.

The study examines the effect of six excipients; glycerol, fructose, sucrose, melezitose, polysorbate 80, and n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside, on the chemical stability of the therapeutic affibody GA-Z. An accelerated stability study is used to assess the impact of these excipients. The results show that glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose enhance the chemical stability of GA-Z by reducing deamidation, isomerization, and hydrolysis. These excipients increase the chemical stability by stabilizing the folded state of the z-domain and inducing a small structural change, which lowers the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone of GA-Z. In contrast, polysorbate 80 does not affect the stability or structure of GA-Z, while n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside induces significant changes in both stability and structure, possibly through micelle-protein complex formation. Additionally, a novel *in vitro* methodology combining Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry was developed, capable of predicting *in vivo* stability, analyzing serum albumin binding, detecting changes in protein size, and identifying aggregates.

These findings provide valuable insights into the stabilization of therapeutic proteins in solution and present a useful method for predicting their stability and behavior in vivo. The results provided by this study will aid in the development of more effective protein formulations by enhancing stability, minimizing degradation, and advancing the development of safer and more efficient protein drugs.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Proteiner har många viktiga funktioner i våra kroppar och inom medicin används terapeutiska proteiner för att behandla flera olika typer av sjukdomar. Terapeutiska proteiner är dock ömtåliga och kan brytas ner, vilket kan påverka deras funktion och effektivitet. På grund av proteinernas känslighet försöker forskare att hitta nya verktyg för att göra dem mer stabila och förhindra att de bryts ner.

Terapeutiska proteiner kan brytas ner genom flera olika processer. Nedbrytningen kan försämra proteinernas förmåga att fylla sin funktion som läkemedel. Nedbrytningen kan också leda till en oönskad aktivering av immunförsvaret, vilket i sin tur kan ge upphov till farliga biverkningar. En annan stor utmaning är att de ofta behöver förvaras vid mycket låga temperaturer eller torkas till pulver för att förhindra att de bryts ner. Även om dessa metoder kan skydda proteinerna, gör det också att distribution och användning blir komplicerad och dyr. Det är viktigt att förbättra de terapeutiska proteinernas stabilitet eftersom det kan minska behovet av dessa dyra och omständliga stabiliseringsmetoder och bidra till att göra terapeutiska proteinläkemedel mer tillgängliga för patienter runt om i världen.

GA-Z tillhör proteingruppen Affibody som är en allt mer vanlig förekommande terapeutisk proteingrupp. GA-Z bryts lätt ner genom två kemiska reaktioner som kallas deamidering och isomerisering och har därför valts som modell-protein i denna studie. Vi har undersökt om glycerol, socker och detergenter kan hjälpa till att skydda GA-Z från att brytas ner. Glycerol är en liten organisk molekyl och detergenter används ofta i tvättmedel. Våra undersökningar visade att glycerol och sockerarterna, fruktos, sackaros och melezitos förhindrar deamidering och isomerisering. Undersökningar visade också att glycerol och socker gör att proteinet GA-Z blir mer stabilt genom att skydda proteinets struktur och genom att göra strukturen stelare. Vi testade vidare vad olika detergenter hade för inverkan på GA-Z. Den testade detergenten, polysorbat 80, hade ingen effekt på det terapeutiska proteinets stabilitet, medan en annan detergent, n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltosid, både minskade och ökade nedbrytningen. Resultaten visar att glycerol och socker kan användas för att göra proteinläkemedel mer stabila och att detergenter bör användas med försiktighet i proteinläkemedel, eftersom de ibland kan påverka stabiliteten negativt. Vi fann också att vissa egenskaper hos GA-Z struktur gör den mer benägen att brytas ner. Att förstå vilka strukturegenskaper som gör proteiner känsliga för nedbrytning kan göra det lättare för forskare att designa mer stabila och effektiva proteinläkemedel i framtiden.

Själva testet av förmågan hos glycerol, socker och detergenter att stabilisera GA-Z genomfördes i flera steg. Först lagrades GA-Z med respektive och utan dessa ämnen vid 37 °C i upp till 44 dagar. Därefter uppmättes hur mycket GA-Z som bröts ner i respektive fall. Nedbrytningen mättes genom att använda tekniken Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. För att förstå varför glycerol, socker och detergenterna påverkar nedbrytningen undersöktes proteinets struktur med flera avancerade tekniker, som AlphaFold2, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance spectroscopy och Small Angle Neutron Scattering.

Ett terapeutiskt protein som har injicerats i kroppen kan bryta ner eller interagera med andra komponenter i blodomloppet på flera olika sätt. Vi har därför utvecklat en ny metod för att studera proteiners egenskaper och stabilitet i plasma för att bättre förstå hur proteiner beter sig i blodomloppet. Denna metod kan användas innan stabilitetstudier görs på djur eller patienter. Den utvecklade metoden är en kombination av teknikerna Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry och kommer att kunna hjälpa forskare att identifiera hur proteiner beter sig i kroppen. Vid utvecklingen av nya läkemedel kan detta spara tid och pengar eftersom det gör det möjligt för forskare att testa proteiners beteende i ett tidigare skede av processen än vad som är möjligt idag.

Sammantaget ger denna studie värdefulla kunskaper om hur terapeutiska proteiner kan stabiliseras. Den bidar också med en ny metod som kan användas för att testa proteiners stabilitet och egenskaper i plasma, vilket kan påskynda utvecklingen av nya proteinläkemedel.

Popular scientific summary

Proteins are essential molecules in our bodies, responsible for a wide range of functions. In medicine, therapeutic proteins are used to treat many diseases. However, therapeutic proteins are fragile and can break down or change in ways that affect their function and effectiveness. That is why researchers are trying to find ways to keep these therapeutic proteins stable.

Therapeutic proteins break down through various processes, e.g. aggregation, deamidation, and isomerization. These changes can reduce the ability of therapeutic proteins to do their job and even trigger unwanted immune responses, leading to dangerous side effects. Often, proteins need to be kept at very low temperatures or be dried into powders to prevent degradation processes. While these methods help protect the proteins, they also make distribution and use more complicated and expensive. Improving protein stability could reduce the need for these costly and inconvenient stabilization methods and help make protein treatments more accessible to patients around the world.

In this research, we studied how the molecules glycerol, sugars, and detergents can help protect the therapeutic protein GA-Z from breaking down. GA-Z is known to degrade easily through two chemical reactions called deamidation and isomerization. The results show that glycerol and the sugars fructose, sucrose, and melezitose can prevent deamidation and isomerization. They stabilize GA-Z by protecting the structure of GA-Z and by making the structure stiffer. On the other hand, the detergent, polysorbate 80, does not affect the stability of GA-Z, while another detergent, n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside, both reduces and increases degradation. The results show that glycerol and sugars can be used to keep therapeutic proteins stable and prevent breakdown reactions, while the detergents need to be used with caution in protein-based drugs, as they can sometimes affect stability negatively. We also found that some characteristics of the structure of GA-Z itself make it prone to degradation. Understanding which parts of a protein are most vulnerable to degradation can help scientists design better and more stable drugs in the future.

To test the stabilizing effects of glycerol, sugars, and detergents, we stored GA-Z at 37 °C for up to 44 days and measured how much it degraded in the presence and absence of the molecules. We used a technique called Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry to measure the degradation. To better understand how glycerol,

sugars, and detergents affect the structure of the protein, we combined several other advanced techniques, like AlphaFold2, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance spectroscopy, and Small Angle Neutron Scattering.

When a therapeutic protein is injected into the body, it can break down or interact with blood components. To better understand how proteins behave in the bloodstream, we developed a new method to study their stability in plasma before testing them in animals or patients. This method combines Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry and will help researchers identify how proteins behave in the body. This could save time and money in the development of new drugs by allowing scientists to test protein behavior earlier in the development process.

This research provides valuable insights into how therapeutic proteins can be stabilized, and help improve their effectiveness and safety. It also offers new tools for testing protein behavior, potentially speeding up the development of new protein drugs and save resources along the way.

List of papers

Paper I

Ingrid Ramm, Adrian Sanchez-Fernandez, Jaeyeong Choi, Christian Lang, Jonas Fransson, Herje Schagerlöf, Marie Wahlgren, Lars Nilsson. The impact of glycerol on an affibody conformation and its correlation to chemical degradation. Pharmaceutics. 2021;12:1853

Paper II

Ingrid Ramm, Carl Diehl, Amanda Västberg, Natalia Markova, Herje Schagerlöf, Marie Wahlgren, Lars Nilsson. The effect of glycerol and protein structure on chemical degradation through deamidation and isomerization.

Paper III

Ingrid Ramm, Carl Diehl, Amanda Västberg, Johanna Hjalte, Herje Schagerlöf, Marie Wahlgren, Lars Nilsson. The effect of pharmaceutical excipients on chemical degradation through deamidation and isomerization.

Paper IV

Ingrid Ramm, Mats Leeman, Herje Schagerlöf, Ileana Rodríguez León, Alejandra Castro, Lars Nilsson. Investigation of native and aggregated therapeutic proteins in human plasma with asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation and mass spectrometry. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry. 2022;414:8191-8200

Contributions to papers

Paper I

I designed the stability study together with Jaeyeong Choi, Jonas Fransson, and my supervisors, Lars Nilsson and Marie Wahlgren. I designed the combination of techniques used to characterize glycerol-induced stabilization and structural changes with Lars Nilsson and Marie Wahlgren. I developed the LC and LC-MS method with Herje Schagerlöf and the AF4 method with Lars Nilsson. I performed the stability study, the water activity measurements, the LC analysis, the LC-MS experiments, and the Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation experiments. I also performed the SANS experiments together with Adrian Sanchez-Fernandez and Christian Lang. I analyzed and processed the LC and LC-MS data with Herje Schagerlöf, the AF4 data with Lars Nilsson, and the SANS data with Adrian Sanchez-Fernandez. I wrote the original draft together with Adrian Sanchez-Fernandez and finalized the paper together with all the authors.

Paper II

I designed the stability study together with my supervisors, Lars Nilsson and Marie Wahlgren. I designed the combination of techniques used to characterize glycerol-induced stabilization and structural changes with Carl Diehl, Lars Nilsson, and Marie Wahlgren. I developed the trypsin digestion method and the LC-MS method with Herje Schagerlöf. I performed the stability study, the trypsin digestion, the LC-MS experiments, and the DSC experiments with Amanda Västberg. I also prepared samples for the SUPR-DSF and NMR experiments. I analyzed and processed the LC-MS and NMR data with Carl Diehl. I performed the structural analysis on GA-Z with an AlphaFold2-generated structure. I wrote the original draft together with Carl Diehl and finalized the paper together with all the authors.

Paper III

I designed the stability study together with my supervisors, Lars Nilsson, Marie Wahlgren, and Herje Schagerlöf. I designed the combination of techniques used to characterize excipient-induced stabilization and structural changes with Lars Nilsson and Marie Wahlgren. I developed the trypsin digestion method and the LC-MS method with Herje Schagerlöf. I performed the stability study, the water activity measurements, the trypsin digestion, the LC-MS experiments with Herje Schagerlöf, the DSC experiments with Amanda Västberg, and titration fluorescence spectroscopy with Johanna Hjalte. I also prepared samples for the NMR experiments. I analyzed and processed the LC-MS data, the NMR data with Carl Diehl, and the titration fluorescence spectroscopy data with Johanna Hjalte. I performed the structural analysis on GA-Z with an AlphaFold2-generated structure. I wrote the original draft and finalized the paper together with all the authors.

Paper IV

I developed the trypsin digestion method together with Ileana Rodríguez León and the LC-MS method with Herje Schagerlöf and Ileana Rodríguez León. I performed the AF4 experiments together with Mats Leeman and Alejandra Castro, the trypsin digestion, and the LC-MS experiments. I analyzed and processed the AF4 data with Lars Nilsson and the LC-MS data with Herje Schagerlöf and Ileana Rodríguez León. I wrote the original draft and finalized the paper together with all the authors.

Abbreviations

AF4	Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation
DSC	Differential scanning calorimetry
HMQC	Heteronuclear Multiple Quantum Coherence
HSA	Human serum albumin
LC	Liquid Chromatography
MS	Mass Spectrometry
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NOESY	Nuclear Overhauser Effect Spectroscopy
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
RMSF	root mean square fluctuation
SANS	Small Angle Neutron Scattering
Tm	Denaturation temperature

Introduction

Research into the functions of proteins in the human body has greatly expanded our understanding of their diverse roles in various physiological processes. **Therapeutic proteins**, which mimic the actions of natural proteins, have revolutionized modern medicine. These proteins can regulate and target highly specific and complex biological processes, and therefore, treat a large variety of diseases. Therapeutic proteins are commonly used for treating e.g. cancer, autoimmune disorders, and chronic inflammatory diseases (1).

Five of the ten most sold drugs globally in, 2023 (revenue), were therapeutics proteins (2), and all these five are antibodies, the class of proteins that are most used as therapeutic proteins (2, 3). Other kinds of proteins used as therapeutic proteins are hormones, coagulation factors, enzymes, and fusion proteins (3, 4).

Therapeutic proteins differ from traditional small molecule drugs, being larger and more complex in their structure. They have both secondary and tertiary structures that affect their efficacy and function, and proteins are sensitive to chemical and physical degradation (5-8). Formulations of therapeutic proteins are developed to minimize degradation of the proteins. In liquid formulations, stabilizing polyols and surfactants hinder chemical degradation, aggregation, and denaturation (3, 9).

Aim

This doctoral thesis aims to investigate the stability of therapeutic proteins in solution. Herein, the following is examined: (1) How the structure of the affibody GA-Z affects its chemical stability. (2) How the excipients glycerol, fructose, sucrose, melezitose, polysorbate 80, and DDM influence the chemical degradation of GA-Z through deamidation and isomerization. (3) How the excipient-induced changes in chemical stability correlate to other excipient-induced changes in the thermal stability and the structure of GA-Z. This includes examining excipient-induced changes in solvent properties and their effect on the degradation of the residues in GA-Z. Finally, a novel *in vitro* methodology is developed to provide insight into the stability and behavior of therapeutic proteins in plasma *in vivo*. The purpose of the present work is to demonstrate that, after incubation in plasma, serum albumin binding can be investigated and quantified, changes in monoclonal antibody size can be analyzed, and monoclonal antibody aggregates can be identified and quantified.

The affibody GA-Z

GA-Z is an affibody containing two domains covalently connected by a linker. The domain at the N-terminal, the z-domain, binds to the protein Complement C5. Complement C5 is an inflammatory protein, part of the classical complement pathway, which is a defense system against bacterial and viral infections included in our immune system (10). The therapeutic function of GA-Z is its binding of Complement C5.

The domain at the C-terminal binds to albumin and is called the albumin-binding domain. The binding of human serum albumin (HSA) in blood prolongs the circulation time of GA-Z in the bloodstream after administration (11). Having two domains is characteristic of affibodies, a class of proteins of increasing therapeutic interest (12, 13). A structure of GA-Z is shown in Figure 1. Each domain consists of three α -helices, and there are no β -sheets. GA-Z is a small protein with a molecular weight of 11 865 Da and consists of 108 residues. In addition, its isoelectric point is approximately 4.5, and GA-Z is produced using E. coli and is, therefore, non-glycosylated (14). Importantly, GA-Z easily degrades chemically through deamidation and isomerization.



Figure 1. The structure of the affibody GA-Z. The structure is generated using AlphaFold2. It consists of two domains, each having three α -helices. The domains are covalently bonded by a linker.

Chemical degradation – Deamidation and isomerization

Chemical degradation change the chemistry of proteins and involve reactions between the atoms within the protein, between water and the protein, or between solutes and the protein. Examples of chemical degradation reactions are hydrolysis, reduction, racemization, oxidation, deamidation, and isomerization (15). Deamidation and isomerization are frequent in therapeutic proteins (5, 8). Since these reactions change the isoelectric point of the protein and the orientation of the peptide backbone of the degraded residues (8, 15), deamidation and isomerization may lead to decreases in the functionality and efficacy of therapeutic protein (5-8). Deamidation and isomerization can also cause aggregation (7, 16, 17) and immunogenicity in patients (5, 6, 8).

The deamidation and isomerization reactions are shown in Figure 2. Both reactions start with a nucleophilic attack from the nitrogen in the peptide backbone at the Cterminal side, against the carbon in the side chain carbonyl group of asparagine and aspartic acid residues. Before the attack, the nitrogen needs to be deprotonated by water. After the attack, either the amine or the hydroxylic group leaves the carbonyl center as ammonia or as water, and the side chains of asparagine and aspartic acid residues form a succinimide ring with the peptide backbone. The succinimide ring is in the L-form, however it might transfer to the D-form. The L- or D-succinimide ring then forms L- aspartic acid, L-iso-aspartic acid, D-aspartic acid, or D-isoaspartic acid residues (18-23). Most of the residues are in L-form and the amount of iso-aspartic acid residues is 3-fold higher than aspartic acid residues (20-23). The rate of deamidation and isomerization depends on the rate of the deprotonation of the peptide backbone nitrogen and on the stability of the leaving group (18, 24). The physical properties of the solution, e.g. ionic strength and dielectric constant, impact the rate of the deprotonation of the nitrogen in the peptide backbone. The pH of the solution affects the charge of the leaving group and, hence, its propensity to leave. The charge of neighboring residues can also affect the rate of the deprotonation of the nitrogen in the peptide backbone. All these properties, therefore, influence the rate of deamidation and isomerization (18, 25-33).

Also, the shorter the distance between the deprotonated nitrogen and the carbonyl center carbon (the C γ -N distance), the higher the propensity of deamidation and isomerization, and short distance increases both deamidation and isomerization (21, 24). The C γ -N distance depends on the secondary and tertiary structures of a protein. Moreover, a high mobility of the peptide backbone increases the risk of obtaining conformations with a short C γ -N distance. In the primary structure, the residues in the N+1 position influence the rate of deamidation and isomerization. A small residue in the N+1 position, e.g., glycine or serine, increases the mobility of the peptide backbone due to a limited steric hindrance, and hence deamidation and isomerization increase (18, 25, 28, 29, 34). Primary structures with a small residue

in the N+1 position to asparagine or aspartic acid residues are, therefore, referred to as "hot spots" for deamidation and isomerization. On the other hand, a bulky residue in the N+1 position, e.g., valine and leucine, lowers the rate of deamidation and isomerization. Secondary and tertiary structures often impose structural restrictions on the peptide backbone of asparagine and aspartic acid residues, and are known to lower the rate of degradation of "hot spot" residues (24, 30, 35-38). Moreover, in α helices and β -turns, the hydrogen on the reactive peptide backbone nitrogen, is usually hydrogen bonding to neighboring residues, lowering the reactivity of the nitrogen.



Figure 2. The deamidation and isomerization reactions. A simplified reaction scheme of the deamidation and isomerization reactions. The figure was created by Yang and Zubarev (22).

Physical degradation - Denaturation and aggregation

During physical degradation, the protein often loses its native structure. There are several forms of physical degradation processes. Proteins can denature, aggregate, form particles, precipitate, and adsorb to surfaces. In denaturation, the protein unfolds, and the protein loses its tertiary and secondary structures. The denaturation process is often reversible, and the protein can fold back to its native structure if the conditions promoting denaturation are removed. Denaturation and unstructured states of proteins may lead to aggregation, which leads to the formation of soluble and insoluble complexes of protein, where proteins have bound un-covalently or covalently to each other. The aggregation process is most often non-reversible and may lead to the formation of precipitated particles. Physical degradation commonly leads to a loss in protein function and may lead to immunogenicity in patients (8, 39-41).

Using excipients in liquid formulations of therapeutic proteins

Therapeutic proteins in liquid formulations must normally be stabilized against degradation. Therefore, each formulation is optimized by selecting a suitable buffer system and pH, and stabilizing excipients are often added. These stabilizing excipients often include surfactants and polyols (3, 9, 42).

Stabilizers - Glycerol and sugars

Polyols are molecules containing hydroxyl groups (–OH), such as glycerol (43, 44). Sugars also contain multiple hydroxyl groups (43). However, sugars are usually not referred to as polyols. In this study, the stabilizers glycerol and sugars will both be called polyols for simplicity. Figure 3 shows the structure of glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose. Polyols stabilize therapeutic proteins against aggregation and denaturation (45-53) and can stabilize the activity of enzymes (49, 54, 55). Glycerol and sucrose are often added to protein formulations (3, 9, 42), and in liquid formulations, glycerol is used at the concentration range of 1.3-55% v/v and sucrose at 25-200 mg/mL (3, 9, 42), corresponding to 1.5-12.4% v/v. The stabilizing effect of polyols is thought to be due to the preferential exclusion of the polyols from the protein surface (45, 56-59). Both experimental data and simulations show that polyols are excluded at concentrations up to 40% v/v, and are completely excluded from the first solvation shell (56, 57, 60-63). Above 40% v/v, experimental data and a simulation show that glycerol enters the solvation shell, and above 60% v/v, glycerol is not preferentially excluded from the first solvation shell (61, 64). The

exclusion costs energy and to compensate for the energy loss, the proteins minimize their contact area by reducing their volume (57, 58). Studies on polyols and proteins show that glycerol and sorbitol lower the partial specific volumes and increase the apparent adiabatic compressibility of proteins (57, 58, 64, 65). It is this polyol-induced shift toward the more compact state that explains the stabilizing effect of the polyols.

When it comes to the chemical stability of proteins, there are fewer studies on the effects of polyols. Nevertheless, previous studies on peptides have shown that glycerol decreases deamidation by decreasing the dielectric constant of the solvent, which lowers the rate of the deprotonation of the reactive nitrogen in the peptide backbone (18, 66). The sugars sucrose and trehalose reduce deamidation and isomerization of denatured lysozyme (53). Sucrose and mannitol also decrease the deamidation of peptides (47, 67, 68). In contrast, sucrose chemically destabilized a protein in an optimized formulation (69).



Figure 3. The structures of glycerol, sucrose, fructose, and melezitose. The polyols are used to stabilize proteins.

Non-ionic surfactants - Polysorbate 80 and Dodecyl-β-D-maltoside

Surfactants are amphiphilic molecules containing a hydrophobic part and a hydrophilic part. The hydrophilic part is referred to as the head-group, and the hydrophobic part is called the tail. Non-ionic surfactants have an uncharged head group (44). They are often used in liquid formulations of therapeutic proteins and are mainly used to inhibit aggregation, increase solubility, and lower the amount of surface adsorption (3, 9). In this context, the most common surfactant is polysorbate 80. Its critical micelle concentration is 0.013 mM, and it is used in the concentration range of 0.01-2 mg/mL (3, 9). The non-ionic surfactant n-Dodecyl- β -D-maltoside (DDM) is often used to solubilize membrane proteins (70) but has not been used in formulations of therapeutic proteins (3, 9). It has a critical micelle concentration of 0.17 mM in water (70). Very little is known about the effects of surfactants on the chemical stability of proteins. Figure 4 shows the molecular structures of polysorbate 80 and DDM.



Figure 4. The structures of polysorbate 80 and DDM. The surfactants are used to stabilize and solubilize proteins.

The stability of therapeutic proteins in vivo

The stability of therapeutic proteins in their formulations is extensively examined and optimized (9, 39). However, their stability and general behavior in vivo, i.e. after administration, also need to be investigated, and immunogenicity, bioavailability, pharmacokinetic, and toxicokinetic studies are always conducted (71). Drugs of therapeutic proteins are mostly administrated through intravenous infusion or subcutaneous injection (3, 9, 39). After administration, the therapeutic proteins circulate in the bloodstream (72). The circulation times of therapeutic proteins vary, and the half-life ranges from a few hours up to weeks (73, 74). For antibodies, the half-life is often several weeks (75-77). Blood contains a plasma phase and a cellular phase (78, 79). The physicochemical and physical properties of blood, such as pH and ionic strength, often differ from those of the formulation. Therefore, proteins may deamidate, denature, precipitate, and aggregate in the bloodstream even if they are stable in their formulations. In addition, the fact that some therapeutic proteins circulate in the bloodstream for up to several weeks increases the risk of deamidation (75) and aggregation. Therapeutic proteins may also interact with blood components in ways that, are sometimes desirable and sometimes not. The *in* vivo studies mentioned above will detect most of these behaviors. However, in vivo studies are expensive, demanding, and require animal as well as patient studies. Therefore, new *in vitro* methods that pre-screen the behavior of proteins in plasma prior to *in vivo* analyses would be highly valuable and useful. Moreover, it may not be possible to characterize the binding of therapeutic proteins in vivo, since the formed complex may be altered by the sampling process.

The stability of GA-Z and its correlation to protein structure

The chemical stability of the affibody GA-Z was investigated by performing a stability study where the protein was stored for up to 41 days at 37 °C to accelerate the chemical degradation reactions. The degradation was then measured using Liquid Chromatography-UV (LC-UV) and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS). LC-UV was used to determine the total amount of degradation after incubation, and LC-MS was used to identify the degradation products (Papers I-III). Figure 5 shows a Total Ion Chromatogram of degraded GA-Z obtained with LC-MS. After 41 days of incubation, 68% of GA-Z was degraded by hydrolysis, deamidation, and isomerization (Paper I).



Figure 5. Total Ion Chromatogram of degraded GA-Z after 41 days of incubation at 37 °C obtained with LC-MS. The sample contains 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0), and GA-Z is degraded by deamidation, isomerization, and hydrolysis, as marked with brackets in the chromatogram. The peak containing native GA-Z is marked with an asterisk (*).

The degraded residues of GA-Z

To identify the deamidated and isomerized residues of GA-Z, the samples from the stability study were trypsin-digested into peptides, and the peptides were then analyzed with LC-MS. The residues Asp14, Asp17, Asp21, Asp35, Asp36, Asp52, Asp53, Asp60, Asn71, Asp75, and Asp81 deamidate or isomerize (Paper II). Moreover, it is concluded from the total ion chromatogram (Figure 5) that hydrolysis occurs at Asp37-Pro38, Asn52-Asp53, and Asp53-Ser54 (Paper I). Most of the degradation takes place in the z-domain and in the linker. Asn52 and Asp60 have the lowest chemical stability, and after 41 days of incubation, over 50% of Asn52 and Asp60 degrade (Paper II). An AlphaFold2-generated structure of GA-Z is used to investigate how the degradation of the residues depends on the structure of GA-Z, and it is shown that the structure highly impacts the propensity for degradation. Asparagine and aspartic acid residues with short Cy-N distances, small or charged residues in the N+1 position, and high conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone increase deamidation and isomerization in GA-Z (Paper II). The result agrees with previous studies on how the structure of a protein affects deamidation and isomerization (18, 21, 23-25, 28-30, 34-38). Table 1 shows a summary of the deamidated and isomerized residues of GA-Z.

Residue	Degradation ^{a,b} (%)	Cγ-N distance (Å)	Structure	Residue N+1	Domain
Asp14	5.1/1.5ª	3.9	a-helix	Gln	Z
Asp17	5.1/1.5 ª	4.1	a-helix	Arg	z
Asn21	7.6ª	4.8	Loop	Leu	z
Asn32	0	4.7	α-helix	Lys	z
Asp35	20.5 ª	4.1	α-helix	Asp	z
Asp36	2.8 ª	4.0	Loop	Asp	z
Asp37	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Asn52	53.8ª	3.6	α-helix	Asp	z
Asp53	7.4 ^a	4.7	a-helix	Ser	z
Asp60	54.0ª	4.8	Loop	Gly	Linker
Asn71	0.4 ^b	4.7	α-helix	Ala	Albumin- binding
Asp75	0.8 ª	4.7	α-helix	Ser	Albumin- binding
Asp81	0.3 ª	4.8	Loop	Phe	Albumin- binding
Asp88	0	4.7	α-helix	Lys	Albumin- binding
Asp101	0	4.7	α-helix	Ala	Albumin- binding

Table 1. The deamidated and isomerized residues of GA-Z. The table includes the amount of degradation, the Cy-N distance, and the residue in the N+1 position of the different residues in GA-Z. The table also states in which domain the residues are positioned.

 $^{\rm a}$ Degradation of the residues in GA-Z after 41 days of incubation at 37 °C. $^{\rm b}$ Degradation of the residues in GA-Z after 44 days of incubation at 37 °C.

The thermal stability of GA-Z

The thermal stability of GA-Z is investigated using Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC). Figure 6 shows the DSC thermogram of GA-Z, which displays two peaks corresponding to two energy transitions of the protein. The first peak corresponds to the denaturation of the z-domain, with unfolding beginning at approximately 26 °C. At 40 °C (Tm₁), 50% of the z-domain population is in an unfolded state. The second peak corresponds to the denaturation of the albuminbinding domain, with the onset of denaturation overlapping with the first transition peak. The denaturation temperature for the albumin-binding domain (Tm_2) is 66 °C. The DSC thermogram shows that the z-domain is more thermally unstable than the albumin-binding domain. Additionally, the Tm₁ of the z-domain is close to the storage temperature of GA-Z in the stability study (37 °C), which means that approximately 50% of the z-domain population was in an unfolded state during storage. The unfolded state of the protein significantly increases the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone, thereby enhancing the propensity for deamidation and isomerization (18, 20, 21, 27, 32, 35). Therefore, the high amount of chemical degradation in the z-domain is likely caused by the unfolded state observed in our study (Paper II).



Figure 6. The DSC thermogram of GA-Z. The sample contains 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0). The measurements are performed in duplicate and are included in the figure.

The effects of polyols on the stability and structure of GA-Z and its correlation to structural changes

The effect of the polyols glycerol and three sugars (fructose, sucrose, and melezitose) on the chemical stability of GA-Z was investigated. GA-Z in 0-90% v/v glycerol and 0-30% v/v fructose, sucrose, and melezitose was stored at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for up to 41 or 44 days and then analyzed with LC-UV and LC-MS. LC-UV was used to determine the total amount of degradation after incubation. LC-MS was used to measure the degradation of various residues and was performed on trypsin-digested GA-Z. All the polyols were shown to increase the chemical stability of GA-Z (Paper I-III). Adding 30% v/v glycerol lowers the total amount of degradation of GA-Z from 68% to 52%, and increasing the glycerol concentration to 90% v/v further reduces the degradation to 36% (Paper I). Glycerol and sugars affect the chemical stability of GA-Z in similar ways. The effect of polyols on the chemical stability of the residues in GA-Z depends on the specific residue's local structure and type. The isomerization of aspartic acid residues in α -helices decreases linearly with increasing polyol concentrations, and the deamidation of asparagine residues also decreases linearly with increasing polyol concentrations, independently of their local structures. At 70% v/v glycerol, the deamidation and isomerization of most of the aspartic acid and asparagine residues in α -helices reach zero. In contrast, when increasing the concentration of polyols from 0 to 50% v/v the isomerization of Asp60 in the linker increases. However, the isomerization of Asp60 decreases when adding more than 50% v/v glycerol, and at 90% v/v glycerol, the amount of isomerization of Asp60 is lower than at 0% v/v glycerol. Moreover, some variations in the stabilizing effects of glycerol and sugars were observed. Glycerol destabilizes the aspartic acid residues in loops, as seen for Asp60. However, these residues are stabilized when adding sucrose and melezitose. In general, the two domains of GA-Z are affected equally by the polyols, except that degradation increases in the albumin-binding domain when adding more than 50% v/v glycerol, which was not observed in the z-domain (Papers II and III). The effect of fructose on the stability of GA-Z differs slightly from that of sucrose and melezitose. However, fructose is a reducing sugar (44), which induces chemical reactions with GA-Z. These reactions may have altered the chemical composition of GA-Z, thereby also changing the
composition of the GA-Z peptides analyzed with LC-MS, and the data on the chemical stability of GA-Z in fructose may be less accurate (Paper III).

Glycerol-induced changes of the exchange rate between the L-succinimide and the D-succinimide rings

Figure 7 shows the amount of Asp60 isomerization. The isomerization of Asp60 leads to the formation of three isomerization products: L-isoAsp60, D-isoAsp60, and D-Asp60. The isomerization products are identified by comparing the rates of formation of the three products. The L-form is known to have a higher formation rate than the D-forms, and iso-Asp is formed at a higher rate than Asp (20-23). Figure 2 shows a simplified reaction scheme of the isomerization reactions and shows how the three products are formed. At 0% v/v glycerol, 48% of the isomerized Asp60 residues form L-isoAsp60, 4% form D-isoAsp60, and 1% form D-Asp60.

Adding glycerol to GA-Z increases the formation of all isomerization products. However, the D-forms increase more than the L-form. At 50% v/v glycerol, where the isomerization of Asp60 was the highest, the formation of L-isoAsp60 only increased by 1%. D-isoAsp60 increased by 5% and D-Asp by 3%. Moreover, D-isoAsp and D-Asp more than doubled in number. The results show that glycerol shifts the kinetics of the exchange rate between the L-succinimide ring and the D-succinimide ring toward a faster formation of the D-succinimide ring. This shift may be caused by a glycerol-induced change in solvent properties, e.g. a change in dielectric constant.



Figure 7. Isomerization of Asp60 after 41 days of incubation at 37 °C in 0-90% v/v glycerol. The isomerization of Asp60 produces the three products L-isoAsp60, D-isoAsp60, and D-Asp60. All stability samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0).

Polyols-induced changes in the solvent properties

The physical properties of the solvent are known to affect the rate of deamidation and isomerization (18, 26-33). pH and ionic strength are kept constant in the stability studies (Papers I-III). However, adding polyols lowers the water activity and the dielectric constant of the stability samples (18, 80). Figure 8 shows how the polyol concentration affects solvent properties using two measures. The left axis shows the water activity of the stability samples containing polyols (Papers I and III), and the right axis shows the dielectric constant at 0-80% v/v glycerol (18). The water activity and the dielectric constant affect the deprotonation rate of the peptide backbone nitrogen, which, in turn, initiates deamidation and isomerization. Hence, the water activity and the dielectric constant, also affect the rate of deamidation and isomerization (18). Between 0-30% v/v polyols, the water activity is high, close to 1, and has no effect on the chemical stability of GA-Z. However, at higher concentrations, above 30% v/v, the water activity decreases, which likely stabilizes GA-Z against chemical degradation. The dielectric constant decreases at 20% v/vglycerol and might reduce the degradation of asparagine residues at lower polyol concentrations (< 30 % v/v).



Figure 8. Solvent properties of the stability samples. The water activity of the stability samples with 0-90% v/v glycerol (\bullet), 0-30% v/v fructose (\blacktriangle), sucrose (\blacksquare), and melezitose (\bigtriangledown). All stability samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0). The figure also shows the dielectric constant at 0-80% glycerol v/v (\ominus) (18).

How variations in the dielectric constant affect isomerization in unstructured regions of GA-Z

The Asp60 position in the linker of GA-Z is destabilized by glycerol, fructose, and sucrose. Asp36 and Asp81, which are located in loops, are destabilized by glycerol (Papers II and III). The lowering of the dielectric constant (Figure 10) increases the pK_a of the carboxylic groups in the side chains of the aspartic acid residues (18). An increase in the pK_a increases the number of uncharged carboxylic groups, which in turn increases the propensity for the hydroxylic group to leave as water, promoting isomerization (18). The linker and the loops of GA-Z lack higher-order structures. The residues located in the linker and in the loops are, therefore, less protected against deamidation and isomerization (21, 23, 24, 30, 35, 38). This lack of higher-order structures makes the stability of residues in the loops and the linker more dependent on solvent properties, such as the dielectric constant, than the residues located in the ordered α -helices. Therefore, the polyol-induced destabilization of Asp60, Asp36, and Asp81 is probably caused by the decrease in the dielectric constant of the solvent.

The impact of polyols on the thermal stability of GA-Z

The thermal stability of GA-Z in the presence of polyols was investigated using DSC (Papers II and III). The denaturation temperatures, Tm_1 and Tm_2 , in 0-30% v/v polyols were determined using the obtained DSC thermograms and are shown in Figure 11. All polyols increase Tm_1 and Tm_2 linearly. Our findings regarding the polyol-induced stabilization of GA-Z agree with several studies that show that glycerol and sugars increase the thermal stability of proteins (46, 49-52). Fructose, sucrose, and melezitose all show the same increase of Tm_1 and Tm_2 . Here, the concentrations of the sugars are compared by their volume fractions and not by weight or molarity. The stabilizing effect of polyols on the thermal stability of proteins is proposed to be due to the preferential exclusion of polyols from the surface of the protein (45, 56-59). The equal stabilizing effect observed when comparing the volume fractions of the various sugars indicates that it is the excluded volumes of the sugars that affect the level of stabilization.

A small difference is observed in the increase in Tm_1 when adding glycerol compared to adding sugars at equivalent concentrations. When increasing the polyol concentrations from 0 to 30% v/v, glycerol increases Tm_1 by 3 °C more than sucrose. The inverse effect is observed for Tm_2 , where an increase in the sucrose concentration to 30% v/v increases Tm_2 by 9 °C more than the equivalent increase of the glycerol concentration. The larger stabilizing effect of sucrose on the albumin-binding domain could correlate to a more effective exclusion of sugars

from the surface of the albumin-binding domain compared to glycerol. The chemical and physical properties of sugar and glycerol vary, and their differences may affect how efficiently they are excluded from the surface of GA-Z.



Figure 9. Polyol-induced changes in the denaturation temperatures of GA-Z. Tm₁ of GA-Z in glycerol (\bullet), fructose (\blacktriangle), sucrose (\blacksquare), and melezitose (\bigtriangledown) and Tm₂ of GA-Z in glycerol (\circ), sucrose (\Box), and melezitose (\bigtriangledown) vs polyol concentration (% v/v). The samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0).

Polyol-induced structural changes of GA-Z

Polyol-induced conformational changes of GA-Z were investigated using Asymmetrical Flow Field-Flow Fractionation (AF4), Small Angle Neutron Scattering (SANS), and two-dimensional Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectroscopy (Papers I-III).

Elongation of GA-Z

AF4 was used to analyze the size of GA-Z in 0-9% v/v (Paper I). The experiment was performed at 20 °C, and GA-Z was, therefore, in a folded state, having an onset for denaturation at 26 °C (Figure 6). By using the AF4 elution times, the hydrodynamic radius of GA-Z was calculated. At 0% v/v glycerol, the hydrodynamic radius is 35 Å, and at 9% v/v glycerol, the hydrodynamic radius increases to 42 Å. MALS-RI measurements on the AF4 eluent were used to determine the molecular weight of GA-Z. The molecular weight is 11 000 ± 400 Da over the entire AF4 peak at all glycerol concentrations. The mass corresponds to the molecular weight of GA-Z (11 865 Da). The two domains of GA-

Z are able to move toward or away from each other. When the domains are further apart, GA-Z is elongated, and the hydrodynamic radius increases, as indicated above

GA-Z was also examined in 0-90% v/v glycerol-d₈ using SANS (Paper I). The SANS experiments were also performed at 20 °C, and GA-Z was in a folded state. From the SANS measurements, the p(r) functions were calculated. The p(r) function is a histogram of all possible distances within the structure of the protein. The p(r)function of GA-Z shows two distinct peaks at approximately 16 and 40 Å. The first peak results from the scattering within each of the two domains (81, 82) and shows the dimensions of the domains. The second peak results from the scattering between the two domains and, therefore, the distance between the two domains (81, 82). As the domains move around the linker, the protein is able to obtain multiple conformations, and the distances between the domains, represented by the second peak, show the ensemble of the conformations that GA-Z obtains. When glycerol is added, the r values of the second peak increase, showing that the average distance between the domains increases. In the absence of glycerol, the average distance between the domains is 38.7 Å, and the distance increases to 41.4 Å at 70% v/v glycerol. Both AF4 and SANS, therefore, indicate that glycerol induces more elongated conformations of GA-Z.

Compaction of the domains of GA-Z

Figure 10 shows the p(r) functions of GA-Z, which represents the dimensions of the domains, zoomed in on the first peak at glycerol concentrations ranging from 0-90% v/v. By analyzing the r values of the first peak of the p(r) function, it is observed that the domains become smaller when adding glycerol, and the r value decreases from 15.3 Å to 14.4 Å as the glycerol concentration increases from 0 to 90% v/v. This decrease in the volume of the domains is consistent with studies showing that glycerol lowers the partial specific volumes and increases the apparent adiabatic compressibility of proteins (57, 58, 64, 65).



Figure 10. The p(r) functions of GA-Z, which represent the dimensions of the domains, zoomed in on the first peak. The p(r) functions were calculated from SANS data obtained at 20 °C. All samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0) and 0% (–), 5% (–), 30% (–), 50% (–), 70% (–), or 90% (–) v/v glycerol-d₈.

Stabilizing the folded state of GA-Z

The polyol-induced stabilization of the folded state of GA-Z was investigated using two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy (Papers II and III). HMOC spectra of GA-Z in 0-30% v/v glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose were recorded at 37 °C, and GA-Z was, partly unfolded in the absence of polyols (Figure 6). Adding polyols increases the denaturation temperature of Tm₁, thereby shifting the z-domain toward a folded state. The effect that shifting GA-Z toward its folded state may have on its residues was investigated by determining how the polyols affect the HMOC peak intensities (Paper II). Figure 11 shows how glycerol and sucrose affect the z-domain and the albumin-binding domain. Fructose and melezitose are not included in Figure 11, since they and sucrose yield similar NMR data of GA-Z. In the figure, the NMRassigned residues are colored from green to red. Colors from green to vellow indicate that the environments of residues do not shift toward a more ordered state when adding the polyols, and the colors from orange to red show that the environments of the residues shift toward a more ordered state in the presence of polyols. The environments of the residues Leu28, Glu47, and Lys49 on the surface of the z-domain shift toward a more ordered state when adding 0-30% v/v glycerol (Figure 11a). The environments of the residues Ile16 and Leu34 in the core of the z-domain do not shift toward a more ordered state when adding glycerol. The glycerol-induced stabilization of the folded state of the z-domain is similar to the stabilization of the folded state of the domain obtained by decreasing the temperature to 22 °C. Glycerol has a low effect on the HMQC peak intensities of the residues Leu74, Lys 84, Ile103, Leu104, and Leu107 (Figure 11b), which shows

that glycerol does not fold the albumin-binding domain. The results agree with the DSC measurements, showing that at 37 °C, the z-domain gradually shifts toward the folded state when adding glycerol and that the albumin-binding domain already is folded at 0% glycerol (Paper II).



Figure 11. The effect of stabilizing the folded state of GA-Z on its residues. The analysis is performed by examining the HMQC peak intensities in spectra of GA-Z in 0-30% v/v polyols. a) How the residues in the z-domain are affected by glycerol, b) how the residues in the albumin-binding domain are affected by glycerol, c) how the residues in the z-domain are affected by sucrose, and d) how the residues in the albumin-binding domain are affected by sucrose. The colors from green to yellow show that the environments of the residues of GA-Z do not shift toward a more ordered state when adding polyols. The colors from orange to red show that the environments of the residues shift toward a more ordered state when adding polyols. All samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0).

When adding 0-30% v/v sucrose, the environments of the residues Leu28 and Lys49 shift toward a more ordered state (Figure 11c). However, in contrast to glycerol, the environment of Glu47 does not undergo the same shift. Chemical shift data of Glu47 show that sucrose changes its chemical shift, showing that the chemical environment of the residue alters, indicating that sucrose changes the structure of Glu47 (Paper III). Other factors than folding can influence the HMQC peak intensities (Paper II), and the chemical shift change might indicate that sucrose shifts the environment of Glu47 toward a more ordered state, even though the intensity data suggests the opposite. Moreover, at 37 °C and 30% v/v sucrose, the z-domain is not completely in a folded state (Figure 6), and the concentration of sucrose may need to be increased to stabilize the folded state of Glu47. The intensity of the peak corresponding to the residue Leu34 is slightly affected by sucrose, which may show that the core of the z-domain is in a more folded state in the presence of sucrose than it is in the presence of glycerol. In the albumin-binding domain, the addition of sucrose also shifts the environments of the residues Leu74, Leu104, and Leu107 toward a more ordered state (Figure 11d). The shift is hypothesized to be related to an extension of α -helix 3 to include the residue Leu107, which is situated in a loop connected to the α -helix and the C-terminal (Paper III). The shift of the environments of the residues Leu74, Leu104, and Leu107 can also be obtained by lowering the temperature to 22 °C (Paper II). The sugars increase Tm₂ more than glycerol does (Figure 9), and the sugar-induced shift of the area toward a more ordered state may be related to the higher increase of Tm₂ obtained when sucrose is added.

Structural changes of the albumin-binding domain

The two-dimensional NMR data were also used to investigate structural changes of GA-Z in 0-30% v/v glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose. Figure 12 shows how 0-30% glycerol and sucrose change the chemical shifts of the assigned peaks corresponding to residues in the albumin-binding domain. Glycerol changes the chemical shifts of all residues (Figure 12a). The chemical shift changes confirm that the chemical environments of the residues are altered. As shown by the denaturation temperatures of GA-Z (Figure 9) and the HMQC peak intensities (Figure 12), the albumin-binding domain is in a folded state at 0% v/v polyols, and the observed shift changes are, therefore, not related to a stabilization of the folded state. Instead, the chemical shift changes likely indicate that glycerol induces a minor structural change in the albumin-binding domain. As glycerol, sucrose, changes the chemical shifts of most of the residues in the albumin-binding domain (Figure 12b), indicating that it too induces a small structural change of the domain. In addition, sucrose induces a larger change in the chemical shifts of Ile103 and Leu104 compared to

glycerol. The larger change in the chemical shifts of Ile103 and Leu104 may be due to the hypothesized extension of α -helix 3.



Figure 12. Polyol-induced structural changes of the residues in the albumin-binding domain. The analysis is performed by examining the chemical shifts of the assigned HMQC peaks in spectra of GA-Z in 0-30% v/v polyols. a) Residues in the albumin-binding domain that exhibit chemical shift changes upon the addition of glycerol and b) residues in the albumin-binding domain that exhibit chemical shift changes upon the addition of sucrose. The colors from green to yellow show that the chemical environments of the residues do not change when adding polyols. The colors from orange to red show that the chemical environments of the residues change when adding polyols. All samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0).

The chemical shifts of the assigned residues in the NOESY spectra of GA-Z in 0-30% v/v glycerol showed that glycerol changed the H_a-shifts of the residues in the albumin-binding domain (Tabel 2, Paper II). The H_a-shifts move upfield in the spectra, and since the assigned H_a shifts are located in or adjacent to α -helices, the observed shift changes show that the α -helical population is stabilized by glycerol (83). The stabilization of the α -helical population results in GA-Z shifting toward a more ordered state, likely making its structure more rigid. The shift toward the more ordered state is likely the source of the small structural change observed in the HMQC spectra (Figure 12, Papers II and III). The polyol-induced small structural change of the albumin-binding domain is in agreement with several studies that have shown that glycerol generates minor conformational changes in the secondary and tertiary structures of proteins (55, 64, 84, 85).

Structure	Residue	$\Delta \delta^{-1} H_{\alpha}$
α-helix 1	Leu74	-0.031
α-helix 2	Lys84	-0.030
Loop	Thr92	-0.037
α-helix 3	Lys100	-0.036
a-helix 3	lle103	-0.033
a-helix 3	Ala105	-0.036

Table 2. The chemical shift changes in the albumin-binding domain for $^1H_\alpha$ when adding 0-30% v/v glycerol-d_8.

Preferential exclusion of polyols and structural changes of GA-Z

The SANS data indicate that polyols induce a compaction of the domains (Figure 10). This compaction is likely correlated to the minor structural change of the albumin-binding domain, observed with NMR spectroscopy upon the addition of 0-30% polyols (Figure 12, Table 2, Papers II and III). Moreover, it is likely that the same type of structural change that occurs in the albumin-binding domain also occurs in the z-domain when the domain is in a folded state (>30% v/v polyols). Between 0-30% v/v glycerol, the compaction of the domains is not observed in the SANS data. However, NMR spectroscopy has a higher resolution than SANS (86, 87) and may make it possible to observe the polyol-induced structural changes of GA-Z before they are large enough to be detected by SANS. When glycerol is added, the α -helical population is stabilized, and the albumin-binding domain shifts toward a more ordered state (Table 2), which likely decreases the volume of the domain, as seen in the SANS data. It has been shown that the preferential exclusion of sorbitol decreases the root mean square fluctuation (RMSF) of the C_{q} -atoms in trypsin (55). The decrease in the RMSF values shows that the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone of trypsin decreases. The observed structural change may be similar to the glycerol-induced structural change of the H_{α} -atoms in the albumin-binding domain, as both the observed changes in trypsin and the glycerol-induced change in the H_{α} -atoms lower the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone. Moreover, studies have shown that the preferential exclusion of glycerol leads to a decrease in the partial specific volumes of proteins (57, 58). It is, therefore, likely that the structural change of the albumin-binding domain, correlated to the observed compaction of the domains, is a consequence of the preferential exclusion of the added polyols. Furthermore, it has also been shown that the preferential exclusion of polyols folds (63) and increases the structural transition temperatures (Tm) of proteins (61). Therefore, the stabilization of the folded state

of the z-domain and the minor structural change of the albumin-binding domain are, likely caused by the addition of polyols and their subsequent preferential exclusion.

The exclusion of the polyols from the surface of GA-Z most likely costs energy. Therefore, GA-Z minimizes its contact area by reducing its volume in order to compensate for the energy loss, as previously suggested for other proteins (57, 58). The reduction of the area of GA-Z stabilizes the folded state of the z-domain and decreases the volumes of the domains by inducing a small conformational change toward a more ordered state.

The effects of polyols on the chemical stability of GA-Z

As shown in this study, polyols change the solvent properties, stabilize the folded state of the z-domain, and induce a small structural change of GA-Z, all of which potentially affect the chemical stability of GA-Z.

Polyol-induced stabilization of the z-domain at concentrations ranging from 0 to 30% v/v.

As previously stated, GA-Z mostly degraded in the z-domain, and the degradation of the z-domain was probably high, as it was partly unfolded during the stability study (Figure 6). An unfolded state increases the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone, which, in turn increases the propensity for deamidation and isomerization (21, 23, 24, 30, 35, 38). Adding polyols stabilizes the folded state of the z-domain, as shown by DSC and NMR spectroscopy (Figures 9 and 11). This stabilization leads to a decrease in the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone, which reduces the degradation of the asparagine residues at all positions and aspartic acid residues in α -helices. At 30% v/v polyols, the z-domain is close to fully folded (Papers II and III), and the residues located in α-helices show almost a halving of their degradation. Asp36, situated in a loop, is destabilized by glycerol (Paper II). However, it is slightly stabilized by sucrose and melezitose (Paper III). The glycerol-induced destabilization is, as previously mentioned, attributed to the lowering of the dielectric constant of the solvent (18). The sugar-induced stabilization shows that sugars may be able to reduce the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone of Asp36. Moreover, the residue Asn21, also positioned in a loop, is highly stabilized by glycerol, fructose, sucrose, and melezitose. This residue is located close to Leu19, in the same loop. NMR data shows that Leu19 is part of an area of GA-Z that shifts toward a folded state upon the addition of 0-30% v/v glycerol (Paper II), and the stabilization of Asn21 could, therefore, be the result of a polyol-induced stabilization of the folded state of the z-domain.

Polyol-induced stabilization of the albumin-binding domain

In the albumin-binding domain, the residues Asn71, Asp75, and Asp81 degrade over time. The addition of 0-50% v/v polyols stabilizes Asn71 and Asp75, which are located in α -helices (Papers II and III). However, the albumin-binding domain is in a folded state at 0% v/v polvols (Figure 5). Chemical shift data of the assigned residues in the albumin-binding domain indicate that the polyols induce a small structural change of the domain (Figure 12, Table 2), in which the α -helices of the albumin-binding domain shift toward a more ordered state (Table 2). The more ordered state reduces the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone and, therefore, likely is responsible for the observed increase in chemical stability of Asn71 and Asp75. Asp81, positioned in a loop, is destabilized by glycerol and stabilized by fructose, sucrose, and melezitose as is Asp36 (Papers II and III). The glycerol-induced destabilization is, as for Asp36, attributed to the lowering of the dielectric constant of the solvent (18) (Paper II). Asp36 and Asp81 are situated adjacent to α -helices. As mentioned, it is from the NMR data hypothesized that α helix-3 in the albumin-binding domain is extended to include parts of the loop connected to the C-terminal upon adding 0-30% v/v sugars (Paper III). It is possible that the α -helices adjacent to Asp36 and Asp81 also are extended to include the residues Asp36 and Asp81 when sugar is added. The structural change would lower the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone of Asp36 and Asp81 and, hence, lead to the chemical stabilization of Asp36 and Asp81.

SANS measurements show that the domains of GA-Z decrease in volume and become more compact when adding 50-90% v/v glycerol (Figure 10, Paper I). Interestingly, the isomerization of Asp75 and Asp81 increases at glycerol concentrations of 50-90% v/v. The increased degradation is not observed for the residues in the z-domain. The reduced volume of the albumin-binding domain could lower the C γ -N distances of Asp75 and Asp81, which could explain the increased degradation. It is, however, not clear why the compaction would only lower the C γ -N distances for the residues in the albumin-binding domain and not in the residues in the z-domain.

Glycerol-induced stabilization of the z-domain at concentrations above 30% v/v.

At 30% v/v glycerol, where the z-domain is close to fully folded, all residues that degrade in the absence of glycerol still degrade. By increasing the concentration of glycerol to 90% v/v, the degradation of all residues reached zero. It can be concluded that the chemically stabilizing effect of glycerol is not due to the stabilization of the folded state at concentrations above 30% v/v. As previously stated, it is likely that the glycerol-induced small structural change of the albumin-binding domain, shifting the domain toward a more ordered state, also occurs in the z-domain when

the z-domain is in a folded state (>30% v/v glycerol). Hence, the glycerol-induced increase in the chemical stability of the residues in the z-domain at concentrations above 30% v/v is likely due to the glycerol-induced small structural change (Paper II).

The effect of solvent properties on the chemical stability of GA-Z

The water activity of the stability samples in 0-30% v/v polyols is high (Figure 8) and does not influence the extent of deamidation and isomerization. However, above 30% v/v polyols, the water activity decreases, which may lead to reduced levels of deamidation and isomerization in the z-domain, in the albumin-binding domain, and in the linker. As the glycerol concentration increases to 50-90% v/v, the degradation of Asp36 and Asp60 decreases (Paper II). This decrease could be attributed to the reduction in water activity caused by high glycerol concentrations, as the stability of these residues is more dependent on solvent properties. The dielectric constant decreases at glycerol concentrations above 20% v/v (Figure 8), which may also contribute to the reduction in deamidation observed between 20-90% v/v glycerol.

The effect of polyols on the chemical stability of the linker

As previously mentioned, Asp60 in the linker is highly isomerized after 41 days of incubation (Papers II and III). The high level of isomerization is correlated to the high conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone in the linker (Paper II). The isomerization of Asp60 increases at glycerol concentrations of 0-50% v/v (Figure 7). The increase is attributed to the lowering of the dielectric constant of the solvent (18) (Paper II). The AF4 and SANS investigations show that glycerol induces a more elongated conformation of GA-Z between 0-50% v/v glycerol (Paper I). This elongation ought to affect the structure of the linker. The destabilization of Asp60 may, therefore, also be due to the structural change of the linker, if this change generates a local structure of Asp60 with a higher propensity for degradation. However, since the conformational flexibility of the linker seems to remain high in its elongated form, it is more likely that the destabilization of Asp60 is caused by the lowering of the dielectric constant of the solvent.

Stabilization through the preferential exclusion of polyols

Since the polyol-induced stabilization of the folded state of the z-domain and the small structural change of the albumin-binding domain most likely result from the preferential exclusion of polyols, and the polyol-induced chemical stabilization is caused by these changes, it can be concluded that polyols enhance the chemical stability of GA-Z by being preferentially excluded from the surface of GA-Z.

The effect of non-ionic surfactants on the stability of GA-Z and its correlation to structural changes

The effect of the non-ionic surfactants DDM and polysorbate 80 on the chemical stability of GA-Z was investigated in a stability study, where GA-Z in 0-0.8 mM polysorbate 80 and in 0-10.9 mM DDM was stored at 37 °C for 0-44 days. The amount of deamidation and isomerization of GA-Z in the stability samples was measured using LC-MS. The stability samples were trypsin-digested before the analysis. The LC-MS investigation shows that polysorbate 80 has a minimal impact on the chemical stability of GA-Z. DDM reduces the degradation for Asn21 and Asp60 and increases the degradation for Asn52, Asp53, Asn71, and Asp75 (Paper III).

The effect of polysorbate 80 on the thermal stability and structure of GA-Z

Polysorbate 80 at the investigated concentrations does not affect either the thermal stability or structure of GA-Z. Moreover, adding polysorbate 80 does not affect the solvent properties of the stability samples in a way that could potentially affect the chemical stability (18, 52, 66) to any significant extent. The inability of polysorbate 80 to influence the chemical stability of GA-Z is most likely due to its inability to change the solvent properties, thermal stability, and structure of GA-Z (Paper III).

The effect of DDM on the thermal stability of GA-Z

DDM lowers the thermal stability of GA-Z significantly. Figure 13 shows how DDM changes the DSC thermograms of GA-Z when adding 1.1, 5.5, and 10.9 mM DDM. When increasing the DDM concentration, the second peak corresponding to the unfolding transition of the albumin-binding domain gradually disappears. The disappearance may indicate that the albumin-binding domain loses its structure (Paper III).



Figure 13. The DSC thermograms of GA-Z in 0-10.9 mM DDM. The samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0) and 0 (--) 1.1 (--), 5.5 (---), and 10.9 (---) mM DDM. The measurements are performed in duplicate and are included in the figure.

DDM-induced structural changes of GA-Z

DDM-induced structural changes were investigated using titration fluorescence and two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy at concentrations ranging from 0-15.3 mM (Paper III).

DDM-induced structural changes of the aromatic residues in GA-Z

Titration fluorescence spectroscopy was used to monitor the structural changes of the aromatic residues in GA-Z. GA-Z contains two tryptophane, three tyrosine, and two phenylalanine residues. Tyrosine and tryptophan contribute to the spectral profile due to the chosen excitation wavelength of 280 nm, with tryptophan dominating the emission spectra because of its high extinction coefficient (88). The emission spectra of GA-Z are recorded at DDM concentrations ranging from 0 to

15.3 mM at temperatures of 20 and 37 °C. Figure 14 shows that the addition of DDM significantly alters the environments of the fluorophores. In the absence of DDM, the emission peak maximum is 340 nm at 20 °C. A large blue shift occurs upon adding 3.8-4.2 mM DDM, with the emission peak maximum shifting from 338 to 333 nm. At 37 °C and 0 mM DDM, the emission peak maximum is lower, 338 nm, compared to at 20 °C. A significant blue shift is observed, with the emission peak maximum decreasing from 337 to 333 nm, and the blue shift is observed at lower DDM concentrations, between 1.2-1.5 mM DDM, compared to at 20 °C. Additionally, a second significant blue shift occurs, lowering the emission peak maximum from 332 to 328 nm at DDM concentrations between 11.0-12.9 mM. The DDM-induced blue shift indicates that the environments of the aromatic residues are becoming more hydrophobic (89).



Figure 14. The emission peak maximums of the tryptophans and tyrosines in GA-Z at 0-15.3 mM DDM. The emission peak maximums are determined at 20 (\diamond) and 37 °C (\blacklozenge). All samples contain 9 mg/mL GA-Z in PBS buffer (25 mM, 125 mM NaCl, pH 7.0). The black lines in the figure represent the concentrations of DDM in the stability samples. The measurements are performed in duplicate and are included in the figure.

DDM-induced structural changes observed with two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy

Two-dimensional NMR spectroscopy shows that adding 0-10.9 mM DDM changes the chemical shifts of some residues in the z-domain and in the albumin-binding domain. The chemical shift changes show that the chemical environments of the residues have changed and indicate that the structures of the residues in the two domains are altered. Moreover, the NMR data show that the albumin-binding domain does not lose its structure, as indicated by the gradual disappearance of the transition peak of the albumin-binding domain (Figure 13).

Interactions between DDM and GA-Z

As polysorbate 80 affects neither the chemical stability, the thermal stability, nor the structure of GA-Z, it is unlikely that polysorbate 80 interacts with GA-Z. In contrast, the changes in the chemical stability, the thermal stability, and in the structure of GA-Z that are induced by DDM, strongly indicate that DDM interacts with GA-Z. Both the head-group and the tail of DDM may bind to GA-Z. Since no interaction between polysorbate 80 and GA-Z is observed, hydrophobicity is probably not the primary driving force behind the interactions between GA-Z and DDM. Rather, the interaction likely originates in the maltose head-group of DDM. Sugars are known to bind to certain proteins (90, 91), and they typically interact with tryptophan, asparagine, and aspartic acid residues. Therefore, the DDM surfactants may associate with regions of GA-Z in which these residues are located. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, the observed blue shift in the emission peak maximums suggests that the tryptophan residue(s) in GA-Z have become more hydrophobic, possibly due to the DDM association (87).

The formation of a protein-micelle complex

Figure 15 shows how DDM changes the chemical stability and chemical environment of GA-Z. A change in the chemical environment indicates that the structure of the residue or its surroundings changes. The figure was created by combining the chemical stability data and chemical shift changes obtained from NMR spectra. Small changes in structure and stability are colored from green to yellow, and larger changes are colored from orange to red. In the z-domain, an orange/red area is observed, including the loop between α -helix 1 and 2, α -helix 3, and Ile16 positioned in the vicinity of α -helix 3. The orange/red area in the z-domain is close to the linker. In the linker, Asp60 is chemically stabilized by DDM. It is, therefore, likely that the linker is part of the orange/red area in the z-domain. An orange/red area is also observed in the albumin-binding domain, including the residues Asn71, Asp75, Lys84, and Ile103. The fluorescence data show that some or all of the tryptophan and tyrosine residues in GA-Z change their chemical environments as the concentration of DDM increases. In the z-domain, Trp27, situated in α -helix 2, is located adjacent to the observed orange/red area. Tyr83, in the albumin-binding domain, is positioned close to Lys84 and Ile103. No other tryptophan or tyrosine residues are located close to areas that change when DDM is added. The observed changes in the emission spectra are, therefore, probably caused by DDM-induced changes in the environments of Trp27 and/or Tyr83 (Figure 14).

Figure 15 shows that most of the observed DDM-indued changes occur on the same side of GA-Z, indicating that DDM primarily interacts with this side. One possible

explanation is that a DDM micelle interacts with GA-Z, leading to the formation of a complex between the protein and the micelle. The location of the observed changes in the protein may suggest that this complex is a decorated micelle, with the protein oriented such that one side primarily contacts the palisade layer of the DDM micelle. When adding DDM, the transition peak in the DSC thermograms corresponding to the albumin-binding peak gradually disappears (Figure 4). This disappearance may indicate that the domain has lost its structure. However, the NMR spectra do not show a complete loss of secondary or tertiary structure in the albumin-binding domain. The formation of a decorated micelle may reduce the conformational flexibility of GA-Z, which could explain the disappearance of Tm₂.



Figure 15. The areas where DDM-induced changes in the chemical stability or chemical environment. Residues that have changed their chemical stability or chemical shift in the presence of DDM are colored from orange to red. Unchanged residues are colored from green to yellow.

The DSC thermograms and emission peak maximums show that the structure of GA-Z changes in a stepwise manner with increasing concentrations of DDM (Figures 13 and 14). It is hypothesized that the following occurs at 37 °C: Between 0-1.2 mM DDM, unimers associate with GA-Z via their maltose head-groups, generating a blue shift in the emission peak maximum. Between 1.2 and 1.5 mM DDM, a larger blue shift is observed, likely caused by a significant conformational change of Trp27 induced by DDM interactions. Between 1.5-11.0 mM DDM, more DDM unimers bind to GA-Z, and the increasing number of DDM molecules interacting with GA-Z leads to the formation of a decorated micelle that includes both domains.

The effect of DDM on the chemical stability of GA-Z

As previously stated, adding DDM both increases and decreases the chemical stability of the residues in GA-Z. The residues that show increased degradation have likely obtained structures that have increased the propensity for deamidation and isomerization. It is structural changes that have increased the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone of the residues or reduced the C γ -N distances. Asn52 and Asp53 positioned in a-helix 3, in the z-domain, and Asn71 and Asp75 positioned in α -helix 1 in the albumin-binding domain degrade more when DDM is added. These residues could have lost their α -helix structures in the decorated micelle, which would significantly increase the conformational flexibility of their peptide backbone. A DDM-induced structural change of the residues could also have decreased their C γ -N distances. On the other hand, the residues Asn21 and Asp60 are positioned in loops and are stabilized by DDM. The formation of a decorated micelle may reduce the conformational flexibility of the loops where these residues are situated and, therefore, lower their degradation.

A developed *in vitro* method used to investigate the stability and behavior of therapeutic proteins in plasma

A novel *in vitro* methodology that investigates and pre-screens the behavior of therapeutic proteins in plasma prior to *in vivo* analyses was developed. The method combines separation and characterization using AF4 with detection using LC-MS (Paper IV). Plasma is a complex matrix containing proteins, lipids, sugars, regulatory substances, nutrients, waste products, and salts (4, 78, 79). There can be more than 10 000 different proteins in plasma (92, 93). However, the most common plasma proteins are albumin, immunoglobulins, and fibrinogen, which together constitute over 90 wt% of the protein content (79). The high complexity of plasma puts high demands on the methods used to analyze it.

AF4 is a separation technique that separates analytes according to size, and analytes of small hydrodynamic sizes elute first (94, 95). The separation obtained with AF4 can have a large size range, which is necessary when separating plasma. After the separation with AF4, the eluent can be connected to multiple detectors measuring, for example, UV, multi-angle light-scattering, and differential refractive index, which can generate highly useful information about size, concentration, molecular weight, etc. An advantage of using AF4 for the separation and characterization of plasma is that the analysis can be designed to mimic the physiological conditions in vivo, i.e., it can be designed to have physiological salinity and pH. The addition of surfactants and organic solvents is not required (96), and the stress on the plasma samples is relatively low, as AF4 does not have a stationary phase, which generates a small internal surface area and low shear forces (97, 98). Due to the large number of different plasma proteins, there will most often be an overlap in the hydrodynamic sizes of the analyzed therapeutic protein and the plasma proteins, and co-elution is inevitable. Hence, another method is required to selectively identify and quantify the therapeutic protein.

LC-MS is a separation and detection technique with high selectivity, specificity, precision, and accuracy. LC-MS can be used to detect, identify, and quantify multiple proteins at once. LC-MS is, therefore, suitable for the complex analysis of plasma (4, 75, 76).

The binding of GA-Z to human serum albumin in plasma

The behavior of GA-Z in plasma is examined using the novel *in vitro* methodology. The results are shown in Figure 16. GA-Z was incubated in plasma for 30 min at 20 °C. GA-Z in plasma was then analyzed and separated using AF4-UV. The fractogram of the separation is shown by the green dashed line. A fractogram of the separation of GA-Z is shown by the orange dashed line, and a fractogram of the separation of plasma is shown by the black line. The elution peak of GA-Z has a maximum at the elution time of 3.1 min, corresponding to a hydrodynamic radius of approximately 2.9 nm. The first peak in the plasma fractogram is the elution of HSA. After incubating GA-Z in plasma, the peak corresponding to HSA is broadened to later elution times, corresponding to larger sizes. The formed complex is likely GA-Z bound HSA. During the separation of GA-Z in plasma, the eluent was collected in 1-minute fractions. The fractions were then trypsin-digested and analyzed with LC-MS. The relative amounts of GA-Z in the collected AF4 fractions are shown by the blue squares. 80% of GA-Z elutes between 4-5 minutes, where the broadening of the HSA peak is seen. The result confirms that the formed complex is GA-Z bound HSA. The molar ratio between GA-Z and HSA is approximately 1:3. In the fractogram of the separation of GA-Z in plasma, there is no peak at the elution times corresponding to unbound GA-Z, 2-4 min. The LC-MS data show that there are no GA-Z molecules in the fraction collected between 2-3 min. The result indicates that all GA-Z molecules bind to HSA. The LC-MS analysis also shows that small quantities of GA-Z proteins elute between 6-7 min. The later elution time may indicate that GA-Z binds to oligomers of HSA or that GA-Z binds to other plasma proteins of larger size. The later elution time may also correspond to the formation of oligomers of GA-Z or aggregated GA-Z.



Figure 16. AF4-UV fractogram and the relative content of GA-Z. AF4-UV fractogram of samples with plasma (--, ~70 μg plasma proteins), GA-Z (---, 5 μg), and GA-Z incubated in plasma (---, 0.90 μg GA-Z + ~70 μg plasma proteins) for 30 min at 20 °C, in PBS buffer at pH 7.4.

The detection of aggregated trastuzumab in plasma

Aggregated trastuzumab in plasma was investigated using the novel in vitro methodology to determine whether this method can be used to detect and quantify aggregated. The results are shown in Figure 17. As for GA-Z, trastuzumab in plasma was incubated for 30 minutes at 20 °C. The aggregates of trastuzumab had been induced prior to the incubation in plasma. Aggregated trastuzumab in plasma was then analyzed and separated using AF4-UV, and 1-minute fractions were collected, trypsin-digested, and analyzed with LC-MS. The fractogram of the separation of aggregated trastuzumab in plasma is presented by the green dashed line. A fractogram of the separation of aggregated trastuzumab is shown by the orange dashed line, a fractogram of the separation of native trastuzumab is shown by the purple dashed line, and a fractogram of the separation of plasma is shown by the black line. The plasma peak, having a maximum at the elution time of 8.9 min corresponding to a hydrodynamic radius of approximately 5.8 nm, are plasma IgG molecules. As expected, the native trastuzumab elutes at the same time as the plasma IgG molecules, being an IgG antibody. The fractogram of aggregated trastuzumab has two peaks. The first peak corresponds to native trastuzumab, while the second peak corresponds to aggregated trastuzumab. In the fractogram of aggregated trastuzumab in plasma, there is a small increase in the IgG peak, showing the coelution of native trastuzumab and plasma IgG. There are no clear signs of the aggregates of trastuzumab in the fractogram. However, the LC-MS analysis shows that trastuzumab elutes in the fractions collected between 10-14 min, with a second maximum between 12 and 13 minutes, which is the aggregated trastuzumab. In this study, the aggregates were induced before incubation in plasma. However, the result proves that the method can be used to detect aggregates and would, therefore, show whether aggregates are produced during the incubation of therapeutic proteins in plasma.



Figure 17. AF4-UV fractogram and the relative content of trastuzumab. AF4-UV fractogram of samples with plasma (---, \sim 70 µg plasma proteins), aggregated trastuzumab (---, 5 µg), trastuzumab (--- 5 µg), and aggregated trastuzumab incubated in plasma (---, 0.82 µg aggregated trastuzumab + \sim 70 µg plasma proteins) for 30 min at 20 °C, in PBS buffer at pH 7.4.

Conclusions

GA-Z degrades by deamidation, isomerization, and hydrolysis. A structural analysis of deamidated and isomerized residues of GA-Z shows that degradation is connected to structural motifs, and that residues with high conformational flexibility, a sequence motif, and/or shorter C γ -N distances have lower chemical stability. The stability study shows that most of the degradation occurs in the z-domain. The denaturation temperatures of GA-Z and a structural analysis performed with NMR spectroscopy show that the z-domain is partly unfolded during storage at 37 °C. The high amount of degradation in the z-domain most likely results from the z-domain being in an unfolded state, increasing the conformational flexibility of the peptide backbone.

When introducing glycerol, fructose, sucrose, or melezitose, GA-Z is both stabilized and destabilized against deamidation and isomerization. However, the stabilizing effect is more dominant than the destabilizing effect. Asparagine residues are stabilized at all positions. Aspartic acids are destabilized in unstructured regions at polyol concentrations ranging from 0-50% v/v. The destabilization is attributed to a change in the solvent properties caused by the polyols.

The polyols increase the denaturation temperatures of GA-Z, thereby shifting the zdomain toward a folded state, which is likely the dominant factor contributing to the chemically stabilizing effect of polyols on GA-Z. However, it is concluded that stabilizing the folded state is not the only stabilizing factor. The polyols also induce a small structural change of the albumin-binding domain toward a more ordered state. This shift toward the more ordered state most likely stabilizes the residues against chemical degradation. A similar structural change likely occurs in the zdomain when 30-90% v/v glycerol is added, and this change increases the chemical stability of the residues in the domain. Stabilization of GA-Z at higher glycerol concentrations may also be correlated with a decrease in water activity. Moreover, it has been shown that polyols most likely increase the chemical stability of GA-Z through the preferential exclusion of polyols from its surface.

Polysorbate 80 does not affect either the stability or structure of GA-Z. In contrast, DDM affects the chemical stability, reduces thermal stability, and alters the structure of GA-Z. The observed changes are believed to result from DDM interacting with the GA-Z, driven by the maltose head-group of DDM. It is

hypothesized that these interactions lead to the formation of a protein-micelle complex, which modifies the stability of GA-Z.

A novel *in vitro* methodology has been developed that provides insight into the behavior of therapeutic proteins *in vivo*. The method involves a combination of AF4 and LC-MS. It is shown that after incubation of proteins in plasma, this method can be used to investigate and quantify serum albumin binding, analyze changes in monoclonal antibody size, and identify and quantify monoclonal antibody aggregates. Thus, this methodological approach opens many possibilities for further studies on the behavior and stability of therapeutic proteins.

Future studies

This thesis does not provide any knowledge about how glycerol and sugars change the molecular structure of the degradation residues of GA-Z. The knowledge could give a deeper understanding of how glycerol and sugars affect deamidation and isomerization. NMR experiments, such as NOESY, could provide molecular structural information on the degraded residues of GA-Z and show how glycerol and sucrose change their structure. The intensities of the peaks in a NOESY spectra can be used to calculate the distances between correlating atoms and, therefore, be used to follow structural changes. Simulations could also provide structural information with atomic resolution and could be used to follow glycerol-induced structural changes over time.

In this thesis, it is concluded that DDM interacts with GA-Z, and it is hypothesized that DDM and GA-Z form a protein-micelle complex. It would be very interesting to examine whether and how this complex is formed and, in detail, determine its structure. For the analysis, structural characterization methods, such as NMR spectroscopy and SANS, could be used. It would, as for glycerol and sugars, also be useful to analyze the system with simulations.

Additionally, the novel *in vitro* methodology combining AF4 and LC-MS could be used to further investigate the functionality and stability of GA-Z in plasma. It could be used to examine if deamidated GA-Z binds to Complement C5 and albumin, if unfolded GA-Z binds to Complement C5 and albumin, if the rate of deamidation changes under physiological conditions in plasma, and if deamidation of GA-Z leads to unwanted interactions and aggregation in plasma.

Acknowledgments

All my thanks go to my main supervisor, Lars Nilsson who has guided and supported me throughout all the steps of my doctoral studies. I have learned so much from you, and I always enjoyed working with you, in the lab, at our meetings analyzing data and discussing research, writing the papers, etc. I will always remember this time with joy.

I would especially like to thank my supervisor, Marie Wahlgren. Without you, I would not be where I am today. You made me believe in myself when I was about to give up and change course many years ago during my master's degree studies, and since then, you have always supported me and made me feel like I can accomplish anything as long as I truly try. Thank you for everything you have taught me and for all the guidance throughout all these years.

I would also like to thank my supervisor, Herje Schagerlöf, for all the support, for taking the time, and for teaching me so much. I have always enjoyed our talks and I missed you when you left the university.

A huge thanks to Carl Diehl, who never seemed to tire of answering all my questions about NMR, my data, and everything else. Our work is what I am most proud of in my thesis. It has been truly valuable to work with you.

Thanks to Mats Leeman and Alejandra Castro for all the help and guidance with the AF4 investigations at Solve, to Ileana Rodríguez León for our work with the LC-MS investigation, to Jaeyeong Choi for your support at the beginning of my doctoral studies and to Adrian Sanchez-Fernandez for our work on the first paper. You were essential in that work and learned so much from it.

Thanks to everyone at the Division of Food and Pharma for this time and all the help: Mattias Alveteg, Peter Eklöv, Mia Hedin, Olexandr Fedkiv, Hilde Skar Olsen, and Juscelino Tovar. Another thanks to everyone in the NextBioForm consortium: Anna Fureby, Ulla Elofsson, Helen Sjögren, Stefan Ulvenlund, Björn Bergenståhl, Dan Lundberg, Sara Malekkhaiat Häffner, and Randi Nordström. I have enjoyed our meetings, and it has been inspiring to work with you. Warm thanks to my colleagues and former colleagues in Lund and Stockholm: Shuai Bai, Yula Ugembe, Paula Viola, Anna-Maria Börjesdotter, Anna Kjellström, Jade Schut, Juanita Francis, Zandra Gidlöf, Daniel Osanloo, and Amanda Västberg. You made all working days better. Special thanks to Ling Ping Zhang, Johanna Hjalte, and Shruti Lalwani, who have been with me from the beginning. We have had so much fun, and you were always there when life wasn't so fun. Another special thanks to Hans Bolinsson, who has helped me with so many things over the years.

I would also like to thank Lotten Westberg, who has been like a mentor during my doctoral studies, always asking how things are going and discussing my various problems.

To my family: Mom and Dad, Dolores Martinez and Johan Ramm, who are always cheering me on and helping in every way they can. To my big sister Eli Szmyt, who always gives me support and guides me when I'm lost, and to my little sister, Sonia Ramm, who is always there, supporting me and helping with everything she can, including the cover of this thesis.

To my husband, Wilhelm Johannesson. You made this possible. This has been a challenge for both of us, with long weeks when I left to go to Lund, periods of long working days, and sometimes weekends. For hours and hours, you have listened to me when I talk about my struggles, breakthroughs, and various thoughts. Thank you for everything.

Thanks to my son, August Ramm Johannesson who brightens my life and reminds me of what's truly important.

References

- 1. Carter PJ, Rajpal A. Designing antibodies as therapeutics. Cell. 2022;185(15):2789-805.
- 2. Williams RE, Leatherwood HM. Top 200 Drugs by Retail Sales in 2023. In: Poster TBNDbRSi, editor. PDF. The University of Arizona2023.
- 3. Gervasi V, Dall Agnol R, Cullen S, McCoy T, Vucen S, Crean A. Parenteral protein formulations: An overview of approved products within the European Union. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2018;131:8-24.
- 4. van den Broek Ir, Niessen WM, van Dongen WD. Bioanalytical LC-MS/MS of protein-based biopharmaceuticals. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2013;929:161-79.
- 5. Aswad DW, Paranandi MV, Schurter BT. Isoaspartate in peptides and proteins: formation, significance, and analysis. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis. 2000;21(6):1129-36.
- 6. Liu DT-Y. Deamidation: a source of microheterogeneity in pharmaceutical proteins. Trends in Biotechnology. 1992;10:364-9.
- 7. Cleland JL, Powell MF, Shire SJ. The development of stable protein formulations: a close look at protein aggregation, deamidation, and oxidation. Critical reviews in therapeutic drug carrier systems. 1993;10(4):307-77.
- 8. Manning MC, Chou DK, Murphy BM, Payne RW, Katayama DS. Stability of protein pharmaceuticals: an update. Pharmaceutical Research. 2010;27(4):544-75.
- 9. Strickley RG, Lambert WJ. A review of Formulations of Commercially Available Antibodies. J Pharm Sci. 2021;110(7):2590-608 e56.
- Lambert NG, ElShelmani H, Singh MK, Mansergh FC, Wride MA, Padilla M, et al. Risk factors and biomarkers of age-related macular degeneration. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2016;54:64-102.
- 11. Ullah A, Shin G, Lim SI. Human serum albumin binders: A piggyback ride for long-acting therapeutics. Drug Discov Today. 2023;28(10):103738.
- Frejd FY, Kim KT. Affibody molecules as engineered protein drugs. Exp Mol Med. 2017;49(3):e306.
- Stahl S, Graslund T, Eriksson Karlstrom A, Frejd FY, Nygren PA, Lofblom J. Affibody Molecules in Biotechnological and Medical Applications. Trends Biotechnol. 2017;35(8):691-712.
- Baeshen MN, Al-Hejin AM, Bora RS, Ahmed MM, Ramadan HA, Saini KS, et al. Production of Biopharmaceuticals in E. coli: Current Scenario and Future Perspectives. J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2015;25(7):953-62.
- 15. Reubsaet JL, Beijnen JH, Bult A, van Maanen RJ, Marchal JA, Underberg WJ. Analytical techniques used to study the degradation of proteins and peptides:

chemical instability. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis. 1998;17(6-7):955-78.

- 16. Nilsson MR, Driscoll M, Raleigh DP. Low levels of asparagine deamidation can have a dramatic effect on aggregation of amyloidogenic peptides: implications for the study of amyloid formation. Protein Sci. 2002;11(2):342-9.
- Takata T, Oxford JT, Demeler B, Lampi KJ. Deamidation destabilizes and triggers aggregation of a lens protein, betaA3-crystallin. Protein Sci. 2008;17(9):1565-75.
- Brennan T, Clarke S. Spontaneous degradation of polypeptides at aspartyl and asparaginyl residues: Effects of the solvent dielectric. Protein Science. 1993;2:331-8.
- Wakankar AA, Borchardt RT. Formulation considerations for proteins susceptible to asparagine deamidation and aspartate isomerization. J Pharm Sci. 2006;95(11):2321-36.
- Li B, Schowen RL, Topp EM, Borchardt RT. Effect of N-1 and N-2 residues on peptide deamidation rate in solution and solid state. The AAPS Journal. 2006;8(1):166-73.
- 21. Clarke S. Propensity for spontaneous succinimide asparaginyl residues in cellular proteins. International Journal of Peptide and Protein Research. 1987;30:808-21.
- 22. Yang H, Zubarev RA. Mass spectrometric analysis of asparagine deamidation and aspartate isomerization in polypeptides. Electrophoresis. 2010;31(11):1764-72.
- 23. Xie M, Schowen RL. Secondary structure and protein deamidation. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 1999;88(1):8-13.
- 24. Yan Q, Huang M, Lewis MJ, Hu P. Structure Based Prediction of Asparagine Deamidation Propensity in Monoclonal Antibodies. MAbs. 2018;10(6):901-12.
- 25. Stephenson RC, Clarke S. Succinimide Formation from Aspartyl and Asparaginyl Peptides as a Model for the Spontaneous Degradation of Proteins. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1989;264(11):6164-70.
- Bhatt NP, Patel K, Borchardt RT. Chemical Pathways of Peptide Degradation. I. Deamidation of Adrenocorticotropic Hormone. Pharmaceutical Research. 1990;7(6):593-9.
- 27. Patel K, Borchardt RT. Chemical Pathways of Peptide Degradation, II. Kinetics of Deamidation of an Asparaginyl Residue in a Model Hexapeptide. Pharmaceutical Research. 1990;7(7):703-11.
- 28. Patel K, Borchardt RT. Chemical Pathways of Peptide Degradation. III. Effect of Primary Sequence on the Pathways of Deamidation of Asparaginyl Residues in Hexapeptides. Pharmaceutical Research. 1990;7(8):787-93.
- 29. Tyler-Cross R, Schirch V. Effects of amino acid sequence, buffers, and ionic strength on the rate and mechanism of deamidation of asparagine residues in small peptides. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1991;266(33):22549-56.
- Bogdanowich-Knipp SJ, Chakrabarti S, Williams TD, Dillman RK, Siahaan TJ. Solution stability of linear vs. cyclic RGD peptides. J Pept Res. 1999;53(5):530-41.
- 31. Capasso S, Balboni G, Di Cerbo P. Effect of lysine residues on the deamidation reaction of asparagine side chains. Biopolymers. 2000;53(2):213-9.

- Goolcharran C, Stauffer LL, Cleland JL, Borchardt RT. The Effects of a Histidine Residue on the C-terminal Side of an Asparaginyl Residue on the Rate of Deamidation Using Model Pentapeptides. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2000;89(6):818-25.
- Zheng JY, Janis LJ. Influence of pH, buffer species, and storage temperature on physicochemical stability of a humanized monoclonal antibody LA298. Int J Pharm. 2006;308(1-2):46-51.
- 34. Geiger T, Clarke S. Deamidation, isomerization, and racemization at asparaginyl and aspartyl residues in peptides. Succinimide-linked reactions that contribute to protein degradation. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1987;262(2):785-94.
- Stevenson CL, Friedman AR, Kubiak TM, Donlan ME, Borchardt RT. Effect of secondary structure on the rate of deamidation of several growth hormone releasing factor analogs. International Journal of Peptide and Protein Research. 1993;42:497-503.
- Brennan TV, Anderson JW, Jia Z, Waygood EB, Clarke S. Repair of spontaneously deamidated HPr phosphocarrier protein catalyzed by the Lisoaspartate-(D-aspartate) O-methyltransferase. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1994;269(40):24586-95.
- 37. Bogdanowich-Knipp SJ, Jois DS, Siahaan TJ. The effect of conformation on the solution stability of linear vs. cyclic RGD peptides. J Pept Res. 1999;53(5):523-9.
- Xie M, Shahrokh Z, Kadkhodayan M, Henzel WJP, Michael F. , Borchardt RT, Schowen RL. Asparagine deamidation in recombinant human lymphotoxin: Hindrance by three-dimensional structures. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2003;92:869-80.
- 39. Frokjaer S, Otzen DE. Protein drug stability: a formulation challenge. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2005;4(4):298-306.
- 40. Zapadka KL, Becher FJ, Gomes Dos Santos AL, Jackson SE. Factors affecting the physical stability (aggregation) of peptide therapeutics. Interface Focus. 2017;7(6):20170030.
- 41. Louros N, Schymkowitz J, Rousseau F. Mechanisms and pathology of protein misfolding and aggregation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2023;24(12):912-33.
- 42. Pramanick S, Singodia DC, Vikas. Excipient selection in parenteral formulation development. Pharma Times. 2013;45(3):65-77.
- 43. Hart DJ, Hadad CM, Craine LE, Hart H. Organic Chemistry A Brief Course. 13 ed. Brooks/cole, Cengage Learning: Mary Finch; 2012.
- 44. Aulton ME, Taylor KMG. Aulton 's Pharmaceutics The Design and Manufacture of Medicines. 4 ed. Edinburgh, London, New York, Oxford, Philadelphia, St Louis, Syndey ,Toronto: Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier Ltd.; 2013. 894 p.
- 45. Scharnagl C, Reif M, Friedrich J. Stability of proteins: temperature, pressure and the role of the solvent. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005;1749(2):187-213.
- 46. Saunders AJ, Davis-Searles PR, Allen DL, J PG, Erie DA. Osmolyte-Induced Changes in Protein Conformation Equilibria. Biopolymers. 2000;53:293-307.
- 47. Kamberi M, Kim YJ, Jun B, Riley CM. The effects of sucrose on stability of human brain natriuretic peptide [hBNP (1-32)] and human parathyroid hormone [hPTH (1-34)]. J Pept Res. 2005;66(6):348-56.

- 48. Benet A, Halseth T, Kang J, Kim A, Ackermann R, Srinivasan S, et al. The Effects of pH and Excipients on Exenatide Stability in Solution. Pharmaceutics. 2021;13(8).
- Gajardo-Parra NF, Akrofi-Mantey H, Ascani M, Cea-Klapp E, Garrido JM, Sadowski G, et al. Osmolyte effect on enzymatic stability and reaction equilibrium of formate dehydrogenase. Phys Chem Chem Phys. 2022;24(45):27930-9.
- 50. Gekko K, Timasheff SN. Thermodynamic and kinetic examination of protein stabilization by glycerol. Biochemistry. 1981;20(16):4677-86.
- 51. Kamal MZ, Ahmad S, Rao NM. Stabilizing effect of polyols is sensitive to inherent stability of protein. Biophys Chem. 2011;156(1):68-71.
- 52. Chen X, Bhandari B, Zhou P. Insight into the effect of glycerol on stability of globular proteins in high protein model system. Food Chem. 2019;278:780-5.
- 53. Ueda T, Nagata M, Imoto T. Aggregation and Chemical Reaction in Hen Lysozyme Caused by Heating at pH 6 are Depressed by Osmolytes, Sucrose and Trehalose. The Japanese Biochemical Society. 2001;130(4):491-6.
- 54. Bradbury SL, Jakoby WB. Glycerol as an enzyme-stabilizing agent: Effects on aldehyde dehydrogenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1972;69(9):2373-6.
- 55. Pazhang M, Mehrnejad F, Pazhang Y, Falahati H, Chaparzadeh N. Effect of sorbitol and glycerol on the stability of trypsin and difference between their stabilization effects in the various solvents. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 2016;63(2):206-13.
- 56. Na GCT, Serge N. Interaction of calf brain tubulin with glycerol. Journal of Molecular Biology. 1981;151:165-78.
- Gekko K, Timasheff SN. Mechanism of protein stabilization by glycerol: preferential hydration in glycerol-water mixtures. Biochemistry. 1981;20(16):4667-76.
- 58. Priev A, Almagor A, Yedgar S, Gavish B. Glycerol decreases the volume and compressibility of protein Interior. Biochemistry. 1996;35(7):2061-6.
- 59. Timasheff SN. Protein hydration, thermodynamic binding, and preferential hydration. Biochemistry. 2002;41(46):13473-82.
- Vagenende V, Yap MG, Trout BL. Mechanisms of protein stabilization and prevention of protein aggregation by glycerol. Biochemistry. 2009;48(46):11084-96.
- 61. Hirai M, Ajito S, Sugiyama M, Iwase H, Takata SI, Shimizu N, et al. Direct Evidence for the Effect of Glycerol on Protein Hydration and Thermal Structural Transition. Biophys J. 2018;115(2):313-27.
- 62. Timasheff SN, Neil LJCPEPT. The interaction of tubulin and other proteins with structure-stabilizing solvents. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science. 1976;55(3):658-63.
- Liu FF, Ji L, Zhang L, Dong XY, Sun Y. Molecular basis for polyol-induced protein stability revealed by molecular dynamics simulations. J Chem Phys. 2010;132(22):225103.

- 64. Scharnagl C, Reif M, Friedrich J. Local compressibilities of proteins: comparison of optical experiments and simulations for horse heart cytochrome-c. Biophys J. 2005;89(1):64-75.
- 65. Chanasattru W, Decker EA, Julian McClements D. Impact of cosolvents (polyols) on globular protein functionality: Ultrasonic velocity, density, surface tension and solubility study. Food Hydrocolloids. 2008;22(8):1475-84.
- 66. Li R, D'Souza AJ, Laird BB, Schowen RL, Borchardt RT, Topp EM. Effects of solution polarity and viscosity on peptide deamidation. The Journal of Peptide Research. 2000;56:326-34.
- Stratton LP, Kelly RM, Rowe J, Shively JE, Smith DD, Carpenter JF, et al. Controlling deamidation rates in a model peptide: Effects of temperature, peptide concentration, and additives. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2001;90(12):2141-8.
- Li B, O'Meara MH, Lubach JW, Schowen RL, Topp EM, Munson EJ, et al. Effects of sucrose and mannitol on asparagine deamidation rates of model peptides in solution and in the solid state. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2005;94(8):1723-35.
- 69. Sahni N, Chaudhuri R, Hickey JM, Manikwar P, D'Souza A, Metters A, et al. Preformulation Characterization, Stabilization, and Formulation Design for the Acrylodan-Labeled Glucose-Binding Protein SM4-AC. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2017;106(5):1197-210.
- Kotov V, Bartels K, Veith K, Josts I, Subhramanyam UKT, Gunther C, et al. High-throughput stability screening for detergent-solubilized membrane proteins. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):10379.
- Arvinte T, Poirier E, Palais C. Prediction of Aggregation In Vivo by Studies of Therapeutic Proteins in Human Plasma. Biobetters. AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series2015. p. 91-104.
- 72. Jarvi NL, Balu-Iyer SV. Immunogenicity Challenges Associated with Subcutaneous Delivery of Therapeutic Proteins. BioDrugs. 2021;35(2):125-46.
- 73. Ebrahimi SB, Samanta D. Engineering protein-based therapeutics through structural and chemical design. Nat Commun. 2023;14(1):2411.
- Zaman R, Islam RA, Ibnat N, Othman I, Zaini A, Lee CY, et al. Current strategies in extending half-lives of therapeutic proteins. J Control Release. 2019;301:176-89.
- 75. Bults P, Bischoff R, Bakker H, Gietema JA, van de Merbel NC. LC-MS/MS-Based Monitoring of In Vivo Protein Biotransformation: Quantitative Determination of Trastuzumab and Its Deamidation Products in Human Plasma. Anal Chem. 2016;88(3):1871-7.
- 76. Budhraja RH, Shah MA, Suthar M, Yadav A, Shah SP, Kale P, et al. LC-MS/MS Validation Analysis of Trastuzumab Using dSIL Approach for Evaluating Pharmacokinetics. Molecules. 2016;21(11).
- 77. Zinn S, Vazquez-Lombardi R, Zimmermann C, Sapra P, Jermutus L, Christ D. Advances in antibody-based therapy in oncology. Nat Cancer. 2023;4(2):165-80.
- 78. Widmaier EP, Raff H, Strang KT. Vander's Human Physiology: The mechanisms of body function. 13 ed. The McGraw-Hill Companies: McGraw-Hill; 2014.

- 79. Patton KT, Thibodeau GA. Anatomy & physiology: Mosby/Elsevier; 2009.
- Malmberg CG, Maryott AA. Dielectric Constants of Aqueous Solutions of Dextrose and Sucrose. Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards. 1950;45(4):299-303.
- 81. Kaya H, de Souza N-R. Scattering from capped cylinders. Addendum. Journal of Applied Crystallography. 2004;37(3):508-9.
- 82. Svergun DI, Koch MHJ. Small-angle scattering studies of biological macromolecules in solution. Institute of Physics Publishing. 2003;66:1735-82.
- Wishart DS, Sykes BD, Richards FM. The Chemical Shift Index: A Fast and Simple Method for the Assignment of Protein Secondary Structure through NMR Spectroscopy. Biochemistry. 1992;31(6):1647-51.
- Chen X, Zhang H, Hemar Y, Li N, Zhou P. Glycerol induced stability enhancement and conformational changes of β-lactoglobulin. Food Chemistry. 2020;308.
- 85. Feng S, Yan YB. Effects of glycerol on the compaction and stability of the wild type and mutated rabbit muscle creatine kinase. Proteins. 2008;71(2):844-54.
- 86. Keeler J. Understanding NMR Spectroscopy. 2 ed: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd; 2010.
- 87. Petoukhov MV, Svergun DI. Analysis of X-ray and neutron scattering from biomacromolecular solutions. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2007;17(5):562-71.
- 88. Lakowicz JR. Protein Fluorescence. In: Lakowicz JR, editor. Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy. 3 ed: Springer, Boston, MA; 2006. p. 529-75.
- Bos Santos Rodrigues FH, Delgado GG, Santana da Costa T, Tasic L. Applications of fluorescence spectroscopy in protein conformational changes and intermolecular contacts. BBA Adv. 2023;3:100091.
- 90. Elumalai P, Rajasekaran M, Liu HL, Chen C. Investigation of cation-pi interactions in sugar-binding proteins. Protoplasma. 2010;247(1-2):13-24.
- Hudson KL, Bartlett GJ, Diehl RC, Agirre J, Gallagher T, Kiessling LL, et al. Carbohydrate-Aromatic Interactions in Proteins. J Am Chem Soc. 2015;137(48):15152-60.
- 92. Deutsch EW, Omenn GS, Sun Z, Maes M, Pernemalm M, Palaniappan KK, et al. Advances and Utility of the Human Plasma Proteome. J Proteome Res. 2021;20(12):5241-63.
- Ponomarenko EA, Poverennaya EV, Ilgisonis EV, Pyatnitskiy MA, Kopylov AT, Zgoda VG, et al. The Size of the Human Proteome: The Width and Depth. Int J Anal Chem. 2016;2016:7436849.
- 94. Wahlund KG, Giddings JC. Properties of an asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation channel having one permeable wall. Analytical Chemistry. 1987;59(9):1332-9.
- 95. Wahlund K-G, Nilsson L. Flow FFF Basics and Key Applications. In: Williams SKR, Caldwell KD, editors. Field-Flow Fractionation in Biopolymer Analysis. Vienna: Springer Vienna; 2012. p. 1-21.
- 96. Leeman M, Choi J, Hansson S, Storm MU, Nilsson L. Proteins and antibodies in serum, plasma, and whole blood-size characterization using asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation (AF4). Anal Bioanal Chem. 2018;410(20):4867-73.

- 97. Leeman M, Albers WM, Bombera R, Kuncova-Kallio J, Tuppurainen J, Nilsson L. Asymmetric flow field-flow fractionation coupled to surface plasmon resonance detection for analysis of therapeutic proteins in blood serum. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2021;413(1):117-27.
- 98. Marassi V, Roda B, Zattoni A, Tanase M, Reschiglian P. Hollow fiber flow fieldflow fractionation and size-exclusion chromatography with MALS detection: A complementary approach in biopharmaceutical industry. J Chromatogr A. 2014;1372C:196-203.



Faculty of Engineering Department of Process and Life Science Engineering Division of Food and Pharma



ISBN 978-91-8104-384-6